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PART1
ITEM1: BUSINESS

The following Business Section contains forward-looking statements, which involve risks and
uncertainties. Qur actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements as a result of certain factors (see Part I, [tem 1A: Risk Factors). Unless the content requires
otherwise, references to “ARIAD,” “we,” “our,” and “us,” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to
ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our subsidiaries.

Overview
Our Business and Strategy

We are engaged in the discovery and development of breakthrough medicines to treat cancers by
regulating cell signaling with small molecules. We are developing a comprehensive approach to patients
with cancer that addresses the greatest medical need — aggressive and advanced-stage cancers for which
current treatments are inadequate. Qur goal is to build a fully integrated oncology company focused on
novel, molecularly targeted therapies to treat solid tumors and hematologic cancers, as well as the spread
of primary tumors to distant sites. Our business strategy is to:

 build a fully integrated oncology company and become a leader in the discovery, development and
commercialization of molecularly targeted oncology therapies;

e establish a U.S. commercial platform;

e enter into partnerships with major pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies, after obtaining
definitive clinical data, to assist in developing our cancer product candidates and commercializing
them outside the United States;

» broadly develop our lead oncology product candidates, AP23573 and AP24534, and build a pipeline
of innovative follow-on product candidates;

+ license our NF-xB and ARGENT cell-signaling regulation technologies to pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies; and

» develop and commercialize AP23573, in collaboration with up to three medical device companies, in
drug-delivery stents and other medical devices to decrease reblockage of injured vessels following
stent-assisted angioplasty.

Our Product Candidates

Our lead cancer product candidate, AP23573, is an internally discovered, potent inhibitor of the protein,
mTOR. mTOR serves as a “master switch” and appears to have a central function in cancer cells.
Blocking mTOR creates a starvation-like effect in cancer cells by interfering with cell growth, division,
metabolism and angiogenesis. We discovered AP23573 in a research and development program
conducted by us on behalf of ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc., or AGTI, our 80%-owned subsidiary.

As part of our global clinical development plan and registration strategy, we are studying AP23573 as a
single agent and in combination with other anti-cancer therapies in patients with solid tumors and
hematologic malignancies. Eleven clinical trials of AP23573 are ongoing or completed with over 600




patients treated. Both the intravenous and|oral tablet formulations of AP23573 are being evaluated in
these trials.

As a single agent, we have completed enro:llment in Phase 2 studies of patients with sarcomas, hormone
refractory prostate cancer, endometrial cancer and certain leukemias and lymphomas. We have also
completed enrollment in a Phase 1b trial of patients with brain cancer. We are also studying the oral
tablet formulation of AP23573 as a single ajgent in a Phase 1b trial of patients with various solid tumors.

We are also conducting three multi-center Phase 1b trials of AP23573 in combination with other anti-
cancer therapies, These are focused primar!ily on patients with various types of solid tumors, especially
breast, head and neck, non-small-cell lung; and prostate cancers, as well as sarcomas.

Qur initial Phase 3 clinical trial of oral AP23573 will be conducted in patients with metastatic soft-tissue
and bone sarcomas. We have reached agréement with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA,
on the design and endpoints of this pivotal trial and subsequently we filed a Special Protocol Assessment,
or SPA, with the FDA for the trial based o} the primary endpoint of progression-free survival, or PFS.
Similarly, we have filed a request for follo{wup Protocol Assistance with the European Medicines
Agency, or EMEA. Patient enrollment is expected to begin as soon as agreement on the SPA is reached.

Commercial planning efforts are advancing for the potential launch of AP23573, as we pursue our
strategy of achieving multiple oncology indications for this novel mTOR inhibitor. We are currently
negotiating detailed terms with multiple pharmaceutical companies for a partnership to develop and
commercialize AP23573 in a broad range of oncology indications.

In addition to our clinical development prLgrams, our preclinical programs include the development of
potent, orally active inhibitors of protein Kinases that are validated targets in oncology. Our second
product candidate, AP24534, is an orally active novel kinase inhibitor discovered by ARIAD scientists
which is in development for the treatment: of chronic myeloid leukemia, or CML. We presented
preclinical data at the American Society of Hematology, or ASH, meeting in December 2006
demonstrating that AP24534 showed potent inhibition of genetic mutants that account for approximately
25 percent of all drug resistance in CML, including producing dose-dependant tumor shrinkage and
increased survival.

We also have a focused drug discovery program centered on small-molecule, molecularly targeted
therapies and cell-signaling pathways implicated in cancer. Our preclinical pipeline includes AP24534 as
well as other small-molecuie kinase inhibitors targeting cancer-related processes such as cell survival,
metastases and angiogenesis.

See the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Rart I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a
description of the risks related to our business and our clinical and preclinical programs.

Our Technologies
!
We are the exclusive licensee of a family o:f patents, three in the U.S. and one in Europe, including a *
pioneering U.S. patent covering methods of treating human disease by regulating NF-kB cell-signaling
activity, hereinafter referred to as the ‘5165Patent, awarded fo a team of inventors from The Whitehead
Institute for Biomedical Research, Massacfmsetts Institute of Technology and Harvard University. NF-kB
is a protein that can be generally thought of as a “biological switch” that can be turned off using these
treatment methods to treat disorders such as inflammation, cancer, sepsis and osteoporosis. We permit
broad use of our NF-kB intellectual propelrty, at no cost, by investigators at academic and not-for-profit
institutions to conduct non-commercial research. Our goal is to license our NF-kB technology to
pharmaceutical and biotechnology compalmies that are conducting research to discover and develop
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drugs that modulate NF-kB cell signaling and/or that are marketing such drugs. We have entered into
two license agreements for use of our NF-kB cell-signaling technology for research and development
purposes. However, the ‘516 Patent is the subject of two outstanding lawsuits and a proceeding before
the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or PTO. See Part I, Iltem 3 entitled “Legal Proceedings”
and Part [, Item IA entitled “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for.a description of the
status of these proceedings and related risks.

We have also developed a proprietary portfolio of cell-signaling regulation technologies, our ARGENT
technology, to control intracellular processes with small molecules, which may be useful in the
development of therapeutic vaccines and gene and cell therapy products and which provide versatile
tools for applications in cell biology, functional genomics and drug discovery research. We distribute our
ARGENT technologies at no cost to academic investigators in the form of our Regulation Kits to use in
various research applications in an academic setting. We have entered into more than 1,225 material
transfer agreements with 476 different institutions in 33 countries for the use of this technology in diverse
areas of research, and more than 300 scientific papers describing its use have been published. In addition,
we have licensed the ARGENT technology to several pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for
research and development and/or commercial purposes.

All of our product candidates and technology platforms are covered by claims of our owned or licensed
patents and patent applications. As of February 28, 2007, we had 59 patents and 34 patent applications in
the United States, with foreign counterparts, of which 26 are owned, co-owned or exclusively licensed by
us and 67 are owned, co-owned or exclusively licensed by AGTI.

Our Relationship with ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc.

ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc., or AGTI, is our 80%-owned subsidiary. Minority stockholders of AGT],
including Harvey J. Berger, M.D., our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Jay R. LaMarche, our
former Chief Financial Officer and a member of our Board of Directors, several of our scientific advisors,
Harvard University, and Stanford University, own the other 20% of AGTIL. AGTI owns or licenses from
others the intellectual property related to the ARGENT technology and know-how, as well as the product
candidates developed from the application of this technology, including mTOR inhibitors. The mTOR
inhibitor program, encompassing our lead product candidate, AP23573, and other compounds, was made
possible by the creation of intellectual property, technology, and know-how related to inhibition of
mTOR and the development of analogs of rapamycin as part of AGTI's research and development

program.

We do not have a license agreement with AGTI that provides us with rights to commercialize product
candidates based on the ARGENT cell-signaling regulation technology or mTOR inhibitors derived from
AGTI's programs, solely for our benefit, as opposed to the benefit of AGT1. All of the research and
development activities of AGTI, including the development of AP23573, have been conducted by us on
behalf of AGTI pursuant to a research and development agreement. As of December 31, 2006, we have
accrued an inter-company receivable of approximately $182 million, representing funds we have
advanced to AGTI for costs associated with AGTI's research and development programs, of which
approximately $109 million has been accrued since January 1, 2003, as clinical development of AP23573
has progressed. Other than repayment of the amounts advanced by us to fund the research and
development activities of AGTI on a cost plus 10% fee basis, we are not entitled to receive from AGTI any
rights or other remuneration under the research and development agreement. Accordingly, our future
economic benefit from the commercialization of such products on behalf of AGTI will only be in the form
of dividends or other payments received in respect of our 80% ownership interest in AGTI, unless we
acquire the equity interests of the minority shareholders, license rights to AP23573 from AGT], or enter
into a different arrangement with AGTT and/or its minority shareholders,




Consequently, as the inter-company receivabie has increased to fund the development of AP23573, in
order to maximize the value of ARIAD for our stockholders and to mitigate or eliminate the conflicts of
interest which currently exist between ARIAD and AGT], the independent members of our Board of
Directors (all of ARIAD’s Board members other than Dr. Berger and Mr. LaMarche) are currently
engaged in evaluating a variety of strategic'alternatives with respect to acquiring the minority interest of
AGTI that we do not own and have hired independent legal counsel and financial consultants to assist
them in their evaluation. Dr. Berger and Mr. LaMarche have also hired independent legal counsel to
assist them in evaluating any proposal thatimay be proffered by the independent members of our Board
of Directors for the acquisition of the minority interest in AGTI, and they are currently negotiating with
the independent directors the terms under which ARIAD may agree to reimburse or advance their
expenses for their legal counsel and their fibancial advisors to be selected in connection with such
evaluation. See a description of the risk factors related to our relationship with AGTI in the section
entitled “Risk Factors” in Part I, [tem 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which include a description
of such risks, the existing conflicts of interest between ARIAD and AGTI, and the key terms of the
research and development agreement and associated financial accounting.

Our Lead Development Programs
Oncology Indications of our mTOR Initbitor, AP23573

Human cells, both healthy and malignant, share an elaborate system of molecular pathways that carry
signals back and forth from the cell surface to the nucleus and within the cell. Such signaling is essential
to cell functioning and viability. When dist;upted or over-stimulated, such pathways may trigger diseases
such as cancer. For example, growth and proliferation of cancer cells are dependent on signals from
external growth factors, as well as signals indicating the availability of sufficient nutrients and blood
supply. These signals are conveyed along well-defined pathways, several of which are regulated by the
protein called the mammalian target of rapamycin, or mTOR.

Our lead cancer product candidate, AP23573, is an internally discovered, potent mTOR inhibitor. The
protein, mTOR, serves as a “master switch’} and has a central function in cancer cells. Blocking mTOR
creates a starvation-like effect in cancer cell's by interfering with cell growth, division, metabolism and
angiogenesis.

As part of our global clinical development plan and registration strategy, we have studied AP23573 in
multiple clinical trials in the U.S. and Europe as a single agent in patients with solid tumors, including
sarcomas, hormone refractory prostate cancer, endometrial cancer, brain cancer and certain leukemias
and lymphomas. We are also conducting three multi-center Phase 1b trials of AP23573 in combination
with other anti-cancer therapies. These trials are focused primarily on patients with various types of
solid tumors, in particular breast, ovarian, hon-small-cell lung, and prostate cancers, as well as sarcomas.
Further single-agent and combination studies are planned. Eleven clinical trials of AP23573 are ongoing
or completed. Intravenous and oral tablet formulations of AP23573 have been studied in these trials.

In clinical trials to date, AP23573 has been well tolerated at the fixed doses administered, and adverse
events were generally mild to moderate in severity and readily reversible. The most common treatment-
related adverse events experienced by patients in the trials were mouth sores, rash, fatigue, anemia,
nausea and lipid abnormalities.

In June 2006, at the annual meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, or ASCO, we
announced that single agent AP23573 deménstrated efficacy and was well tolerated when administered
intravenously in a multi-center Phase 2 clin:ical trial in metastatic and/or unresectable soft-tissue and
bone sarcomas involving 212 patients, at least 90% of whom had progressive disease. The primary
endpoint of the trial, evidenced by clinical-benefit response, or CBR, rates was achieved in the three most




prevalent types of sarcoma, namely bone sarcoma (CBR rate of 30%), leiomyosarcoma (33%) and
liposarcoma (30%). In addition, the progression-free survival, or PFS, rate at six months for the patients
in this trial was 24%, and the median PFS was 15 weeks. As it relates to both the CBR rate and the PFS
rate, there was no statistical difference between the four sub-groups of patients in this trial, indicating
that AP23573 demonstrated activity and clinical benefit across all four sub-groups of sarcomas. The
adverse events experienced by patients in the trial were generally mild or moderate in severity and
reversible. Two clinical trials of AP23573 that have concluded enrollment provide important insights that
may be useful in planning follow-up studies. In patients with brain cancer, AP23573 was shown to cross
the blood-brain barrier and inhibit brain tumor mTOR activity, while being well tolerated in severely ill
patients. In heavily pretreated patients with leukemias and lymphomas, 40% of evaluable patients
experienced single-agent AP23573 anti-cancer activity, providing a basis for further combination studies
in selected hematologic malignancies.

The oral dosage form of AP23573 is being studied in a multi-center Phase 1b clinical trial of patients with
various solid tumors. Initial results from this trial indicate that the oral dosage form can be administered
safely using several daily and intermittent dosing schedules and achieves blood levels over time and
mTOR inhibition generally consistent with those observed with intravenous administration.

We plan to conduct our initial Phase 3 clinical trial of the oral dosage form of AP23573 in patients with
metastatic soft-tissue and bone sarcomas. This randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial is
expected to enroll approximately 500 patients at 50 to 75 sites throughout the world. The patients will be
randomized one-to-one to treatment with AP23573 or treatment with placebo. The primary endpoint of
the trial is progression-free survival, or PFS, and the trial is designed to detect a 50% increase in median
PFS.

We have reached agreement with the FDA on the design and endpoints of this pivotal Phase 3 trial and
have subsequently filed an SPA with the FDA to provide us with further confirmation of the patient
population, primary and secondary endpoints, sample size and the statistical analysis plan. Similarly, we
have filed a request for follow-up Protocol Assistance, or PA, with the EMEA. Patient enrollment in this
trial is expected to begin as soon as agreement on the SPA is reached with the FDA. Our current target is
to complete enrollment within approximately two years of entry of the first patient in the trial.

The FDA and the EMEA have designated AP23573 as an orphan drug for treatment of soft-tissue and
bone sarcomas. The FDA has also designated AP23573 as a fast-track product for the same indications.

In the malignant cells of many of the cancers that we are studying in the AP23573 clinical trials, signaling
in the mTOR pathway may be abnormal due to genetic mutations and/or alterations in the activity of key
proteins upstream or downstream of mTOR itself. We believe that some of these patients may be
particularly responsive to mTOR inhibition. Qur scientists and other investigators are leading the
identification and development of biomarker assays to identify patients with tumors that harbor such
alterations in the mTOR pathway. In addition, our clinical development strategy includes extensive use
of biomarkers and functional imaging technologies, such as positron emission tomography, to augment
the assessment of the efficacy and safety of AP23573 in patients enrolled in our trials.

Cardiovascular Indications of our mTOR Inhibitor, AP23573

As an mTOR inhibitor, AP23573 has also been shown to potently block the growth, proliferation and
migration of vascular smooth muscle cells, the primary cause of narrowing and blockage of injured
vessels. In 2005, we entered into a parinership with Medinol Ltd., or Medinol, one of the leading
cardiovascular medical device companies, to develop and commercialize stents and other medical
devices to deliver AP23573 to prevent reblockage of injured vessels following stent-assisted angioplasty,
a common non-surgical procedure for dilating or opening narrowed arteries.




Cardiovascular disease afflicts more than a)quarter of the U.S. population and causes more than five
million hospitalizations, over $300 billion in healthcare expenditures, and one million deaths annually.
Products expected to have the most profouhd impact on coronary artery and myocardial disorders -
including drug-eluting stents - have only been introduced into clinical practice in recent years. By 2008,
the growing drug-eluting stent market is expected to exceed $6 billion.

Numerous drugs, including many antiplatelet agents, anticoagulants, ACE inhibitors, and cytotoxic
agents, administered to patients following ¢oronary angioplasty have failed to significantly reduce the
overall incidence of vascular reblockage, wlhich runs as high as 30% in the first few months, depending on
the configuration and location of the vascular lesion and other clinical factors, such as diabetes. Recent
clinical studies have found lower reblockaée rates in patients treated with stents that deliver small-
molecule drugs, such as sirolimus, an mTOR inhibitor, or paclitaxel, a cytotoxic agent, locally to the site
of vascular injury. Although questions ha\{e been raised on the relative safety of drug-eluting stents due
to the increased possibility of late thrombosis, such stents have become the standard-of-care for patients
undergoing interventional procedures to open narrowed coronary arteries.

i

We may grant up to two additional licensejf‘,, under our rights to AP23573, to medical device companies
for their use in developing and commercializing drug-delivery stents and other medical devices to reduce
reblockage of injured vessels following stent-assisted angioplasty.

Additional Non-Oncology Indications of aur mTOR Inhibitor, AP23573

Inhibition of the mTOR pathway may be useful for additional indications beyond oncology and drug-
delivery stents, and we are evaluating such indications as part of the broader clinical development plan

for AP23573,

Our Oncogenic Kinase Inhibitor, AP24534

Our second product candidate, AP24534, is an orally active oncogenic kinase inhibitor, which is in
preclinical development for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia, or CML. CML is a slowly
progressing cancer in which too many white blood cells are made in the bone marrow. In most cases, a
genetic abnormality involving a protein known as Ber-Abl results in constantly activated growth of
cancer cells. Treatment with existing moletularly targeted drugs inhibits the Ber-Abl protein but often
results in mutations of the Bcr-Abl gene, which creates substantial drug resistance over time. One of the
clinically relevant mutations, T315I, is estil;nated to account for 25% of overall drug resistance in CML. In
preclinical studies, AP24534 has demonstrated potent inhibition of the Ber-Abl-T315] mutant as well as
the other major clinically relevant variants'of Bcr-Abl and the naturally occurring unmutated form of the
protein. In addition, AP24534 has demonsltrated dose-dependent tumor shrinkage and increased survival
in animal models. We believe that these findings support broad potential applicability of AP24534 in the
treatment of CML, particularly in the refra'ktory forms of CML.

QOur Discovery Programs

Our research and development programs are focused on discovering and developing small-molecule
drugs that regulate cell signaling. Many of the critical functions of cells, such as cell growth,
differentiation, gene transcription, metabolism, motility and survival, are dependent on signals carried
back and forth from the cell surface to the nucleus and within the cell through a system of molecular
pathways. When disrupted or over-stimulated, such pathways may trigger diseases such as cancer.

From our inception, our research has focused on exploring cell-signaling pathways, identifying their role -
in specific diseases, and discovering drug candidates to treat those diseases by interfering with the
aberrant signaling pathways of cells. The 'gpecific cellular proteins blocked by our product candidates
have been well characterized and validated as targets. Product candidates like AP24534 have been




developed in-house through the integrated use of structure-based drug design and computational
chemistry, and their targets have been validated with techniques such as functional genomics,
proteomics, and chemical genetics.

We have a focused drug discovery program centered on small-molecule, molecularly targeted therapies
and cell-signaling pathways implicated in cancer. Our preclinical pipeline includes AP24534 as well as
other small-molecule kinase inhibitors targeting cancer-related processes such as cell survival, metastases
and angiogenesis.

Our Proprietary Technologies
NF-«B Cell-signaling Technology

Dr. David Baltimore, formerly director of the Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research, Dr. Phillip
Sharp of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and Dr. Thomas Maniatis of Harvard University,
together with a team of scientists in their respective laboratories, discovered a family of genes that encode
proteins they called NF-kB and I-B, its inhibitor; the critical role played by NF-«B cell signaling in
regulating cellular processes involved in various difficult-to-treat diseases; methods to identify
compounds to regulate NF-kB cell-signaling activity; and methods of treating disease by inhibiting NF-xB
activity. NF-kB can be generally thought of as a “biological switch” that can be turned off using these
methods to treat disorders, such as inflammation, cancer, sepsis and osteoporosis,

We have an exclusive license from these academic institutions to pioneering technology and patents
related to methods of treating human disease by regulating of NF-xB cell-signaling activity, and the
discovery and development of drugs to regulate NF-«xB cell-signaling activity. We have a program to
license this technology and these treatment methods to pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
that are conducting research to discover and develop drugs that modulate NF-xB cell-signaling and/ or
that are marketing such drugs. One of the NF-kB patents is the subject of reexamination proceedings in
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or PTO, a patent infringement lawsuit filed in 2002 by us and the
academic institutions against Eli Lilly and Company, and a lawsuit filed in April 2006 against us by
Amgen Inc. and certain affiliated entities. See Part |, Item 3 entitled “Legal Proceedings” for a description
of the status of these proceedings.

ARGENT Cell-signaling Regulation Technology

Qur proprietary portfolio of cell-signaling regulation technologies includes the ARGENT signaling and
transcription technologies. Our ARGENT technologies allow intracellular processes to be controlled with
small molecules, which may be useful in the development of therapeutic vaccines and gene and cell
therapy products, and which provide versatile tools for applications in cell biology, functional genomics
and drug-discovery research, including three-hybrid screening approaches to discover and characterize
targets and lead molecules. To maximize their use by the scientific community, we distribute our
technologies at no cost to academic investigators in the form of our Regulation Kits. We have entered
into more than 1,225 material transfer agreements with 476 different institutions in 33 countries for the
use of this technology in diverse areas of research, and more than 300 scientific papers describing their
use have been published. In addition, we have licensed the ARGENT technology to several
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for research and development and/or commercial
purposes.




Our Intellectual Property

£
Patents and other intellectual property rights are essential to our business. We file patent applications to
protect our technology, inventions and improvements to our inventions that are considered important to
the development of our business.

H
As of February 28, 2007, we had 59 patents ]land 34 pending patent applications in the United States,
which are owned, co-owned or exclusively licensed by us or by our subsidiary, AGTI. In addition, we
have filed foreign counterparts, as appropriate. We also have several nonexclusive technology licenses
from certain institutions in support of our research programs. We anticipate that we will continue to seek
licenses from universities and others where applicable technology complements our research and
development efforts. T

Approximately one third of the patents and! patent applications in our portfolio relate generally to our
mTOR inhibitor, AP23573, or to our preclinical drug discovery programs. The former cover AP23573,
various analogs and uses thereof, as well as‘ the related use of biomarkers, related therapies and
inventions involving the mTOR gene. The latter include various families of kinase inhibitor compounds,
as well as our bone-targeted mTOR inhibitdrs. The remainder of the portfolio is primarily focused on
ARGENT cell-signaling regulation technol({lgies. These patents and pending applications cover
regulatory technologies, specialized variants of the technologies, critical nucleic acid components, small-
molecule drugs, the identification and use Af dimerizer hormone mimetics, and various uses of the
technologies in health care and drug discovlery. Patents issued to date include 33 patents covering our
cell-signaling regulation technologies.

We also rely on unpatented trade secrets and proprietary know-how. However, trade secrets are difficult
to protect. We enter into confidentiality agfeements with our employees, consultants, investigators,
contractors, collaborators and other third parties to whom we disclose confidential information. In
addition, we believe that certain technologi!es utilized in our research and development programs are in
the public domain. Accordingly, we do not believe that patent or other protection is available for these
technologies.

Our Licenses to Third Parties l

We have a program to license our NF-«B cell-signaling technology and treatment methods to
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies conducting research to discover and develop drugs that
modulate NF-«B cell-signaling and/or marketing such drugs. To date, we have entered into several
licenses for this technology with pharmacel:m'cal companies and companies manufacturing and
commercializing kits, technologies and tools for research applications.

We also have a program to license our ARGENT cell-signaling regulation technologies to pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies to develop ar:1d commercialize innovative therapeutic products and to
conduct drug discovery research. To date, we have entered into several licenses for use of our ARGENT
cell-signaling regulation technologies for a l\rariety of applications. In addition, several biotechnology
companies are conducting collaborative studies of these technologies for use in gene and cell therapy
applications.

In January 2005, we and our subsidiary, AGTI, entered into non-exclusive license and supply agreements
with Medinol Ltd. for the development and commercialization of stents and other medical devices to
deliver our mTOR inhibitor, AP23573, to pr'event reblockage of injured vessels following stent-assisted
angioplasty. The license agreement providl’:s for the payment by Medinol to us of an upfront license fee,
payments based on achievement of development, regulatory, and commercial milestones, and royalties




based on commercial sales of products, if any, developed by Medinol. We are required to provide
Medinol, and Medinol is required to purchase from us, agreed upon quantities of 1—}P23573.

Qur Licenses from Third Parties

In 1991, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Massachusetts Institute of Technology and
the Whitehead Institute (on behalf of themselves and Harvard University) to the rights to our NF-xB cell-
signaling technologies and treatment methods. This license agreement was amended in 1995 and
provides for the payment by us to these academic institutions of an upfront fee, license maintenance fees,
a milestone payment, sublicense fees, and royalties based on commercial sales of products and processes
developed using the NF-kB cell-signaling technologies and treatment methods. The license agreement
also grants us the right to undertake the enforcement and/ or defense of these patent rights at our sole
expense, subject to our right to withhold a percentage of the royalties otherwise due the academic
institutions to be applied toward reimbursement of our fees and expenses in connection with any such
litigation, including our litigation against Eli Lilly and Company and Amgen Inc. The license agreement
also provides that we will share a percentage of any damages, net of fees and expenses, awarded in such
litigation with the academic institutions.

We and, in some instances AGTI, our 80% owned subsidiary, have entered into license agreements with
various institutions and universities pursuant to which we and/or AGTI are the licensees of certain
technologies relating to our research and development programs. In particular, in 1997, AGTI entered into
an amended and restated exclusive license agreement with Stanford University {on behalf of itself and
Harvard University) to rights to certain of our ARGENT cell-signaling regulation technologies. This license
agreement was amended in 2003 and provides for the payment by AGTI of an upfront fee, license
maintenance fees, milestone payments based on achievement of development and commercial milestones,
royalties on commercial sales of products, including therapies and research reagents, by AGT], its co-
venturers and partners, and the issuance of 180,000 shares of AGTI common stock, or 3% of the initial
capitalization of AGTL

In some instances, our third party licenses also impose insurance, development, sublicensing and other
obligations. Failure by us to comply with these requirements could result in the termination of the
applicable agreement, which, depending upon the technologies which are the subject of the applicable
agreement, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Research and Development Spending

During each of the three years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, we spent approximately $43.3
million, $45.9 million and $27.7 million, respectively, on our research and development activities.

Manufacturing

Our drug candidates and preclinical compounds are small molecules that can be readily synthesized by
processes that we have developed. We are able to manufacture in-house the quantities of our product
candidates necessary for certain preclinical studies. We contract with third party manufacturers to assist
in the development and optimization of our manufacturing processes and methods and to supply
sufficient quantities of our lead product candidate in bulk quantities and in suitable dosage forms for use
in our clinical trials. We also expect to depend on third-party manufacturers for the supply of our
products upon commercialization. ‘

Our lead product candidate, AP23573, is produced by an established manufacturing process using
conventional synthetic and natuaral-product fermentation techniques. The production of AP23573 is




based in part on technology that we believe|is proprietary to us. We may license this technology to
contract manufacturers to enable them to manufacture AP23573 for us. In addition, a contract
manufacturer may develop process technol(l)gy related to the manufacture of our drug candidate that the
manufacturer owns either independently or jointly with us. This would increase our reliance on that
manufacturer or require us to obtain a license from that manufacturer in order to have our product
manufactured by other parties. We are negotiating with our existing suppliers and other third-party
manufacturers to secure the long-term supply and manufacture of AP23573 at commercially reasonable
costs with appropriate redundancy for commercialization.

Contract manufacturers are subject to extensive governmental regulation and we depend on them to
manufacture our product candidates in accordance with the FDA's current good manufacturing practice
regulations, or cGMPs. We have established a quality assurance program intended to ensure that third-
party manufacturers under contract produce our compounds in accordance with cGMPs, and other
applicable domestic and foreign regulationé. We believe that our current contractors comply with such
regulations.

Competition

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology indl.'lstries are intensely competitive. We compete directly and
indirectly with other pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies and academic and research
organizations, many of whom have greater resources than us. We compete with companies who have
products on the market or in development for the same indications as our product candidates. We may
also complete with organizations that are developing similar technology platforms.

In the area of oncology, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies such as Amgen Inc., AstraZeneca
PLC, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Eli Lilly and Company, Genentech, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc,
Hoffmann LaRoche & Co., Johnson & ]okmsjwon, Merck KGaA, Novartis AG, Pfizer, Inc., and Wyeth Corp.
are developing and marketing drugs to treat cancer, including mTOR inhibitors. Biotechnology
companies such as Amgen Inc., Biogen-Idec, Inc., ImClone Systems, Inc., Millennium Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., OSI Pharnl"naceuticals, Inc., Telik, Inc., and Vertex Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
are developing drugs to treat various disea;l_:es, including cancer, by inhibiting cell-signaling pathways.
Other companies have products on the market or in development against which our drug candidates, if
approved, may have to compete. We may also experience competition from companies that have
acquired or may acquire technology from companies, universities, and other research institutions. As
these companies develop their technologies, they may develop proprietary positions that may materially
and adversely affect us.

Government Regulation

Our ongoing research and development activities, our clinical trials, the manufacturing and testing
procedures and the marketing of our prodtllct candidates, if they are approved, all are subject to extensive
regulation by numerous governmental autltilorities in the United States and other countries. Any drug or
device developed by us and/or a partner must undergo rigorous preclinical studies and clinical testing
and extensive regulatory review administered by the FDA under the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic
Act prior to marketing in the United States) Satisfaction of such regulatory requirements, which includes
demonstrating that a product is both safe a:nd effective for its intended indications for use, typically takes
several years or more depending upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product and requires the
expenditure of substantial resources. Precllinical studies must be conducted in conformance with FDA
regulations, including its current Good Laqoratory Practice regulations, or cGLPs. Before commencing
clinical trials in the United States, we must submit extensive information about the results of preclinical
studies, toxicity, manufacturing and contral procedures and our proposed clinical research protocol to
the FDA in an Investigational New Drug application, or IND, or an Investigational Device Exemption, or
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IDE, as the case may be. If the FDA does not respond with any questions within thirty days of receipt of
the IND, we can commence clinical trials. In addition, an independent institutional review board, or IRB,
at each institution at which any clinical trial is being performed, must review and approve the clinical
protocol before clinical testing may begin, and it will have ongoing overview of the clinical trial at that
institution. With respect to an IDE for certain medical devices, such as drug-delivery stents, clinical trials
may not begin until both the FDA and an IRB approve. There can be no assurance that submission of an
IND or IDE will result in the commencement of such clinical trials.

We have a limited history of conducting preclinical studies and the clinical trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approval. Furthermore, we, the FDA or an IRB may suspend clinical trials at any time if we or
they believe that the subjects participating in such trials are being exposed to unacceptable risks or if the
FDA finds deficiencies in the conduct of the trials or other problems with our product under
development.

Before receiving FDA approval to market a product, we will have to demonstrate that the product is safe
and effective in the patients for whom the product is indicated. Data obtained from preclinical studies
and clinical trials are susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit or prevent regulatory
clearances. In addition, delays or rejections may be encountered based upon additional government
regulation from future legislation or administrative action or changes in FDA policy during the period of
product development, clinical trials and FDA regulatory review. Similar or even more extensive delays
also may be encountered in foreign countries. There can be no assurance that even after such time and
expenditures, regulatory approval will be obtained for any product candidates developed by us, or, even
if approval is obtained, that the approved indication and related labeling for such products will not limit
the product’s condition of use, which could materially impact the marketability and profitability of the
product. If regulatory approval of a product is granted, such approval will be limited to those disease
states and conditions for which the product has been shown useful, as demonstrated by clinical trials.
Furthermore, approval may entail ongoing requirements for post-market studies. Even if such regulatory
approval is obtained, a marketed product, its manufacturer and its manufacturing facilities and
procedures are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA. Discovery of previously
unknown problems with a product, manufacturer, manufacturing procedures or facility may result in
restrictions on such product or manufacturer, including costly recalls, an injunction against continued
marketing and manufacturing until the problems have been adequately addressed to the FDA’s
satisfaction or even withdrawal of the product from the market.

There can be no assurance that any compound developed by us alone or in conjunction with others will
prove to be safe and efficacious in clinical trials and will meet all of the applicable regulatory
requirements needed to receive and maintain marketing approval. Additionally, the marketing, labeling
and advertising for an approved product is subject to ongoing FDA scrutiny and the failure to adhere to
applicable requirements can result in regulatory action that could have a material adverse impact on the
profitability of the product.

Outside the United States, our ability to market a product will be contingent upon receiving a marketing
authorization from the appropriate regulatory authorities. The requirements governing the conduct of
clinical trials, obtaining marketing authorization, and pricing and reimbursement vary widely from
country to country. At present, foreign marketing authorizations are applied for at a national level,
although within the European Union, or EU, certain centralized and mutual recognition registration
procedures are available to companies wishing to market a product in more than one Member State.
These procedures alleviate the need to file a separate application in each EU country. If the regulatory
authority is satisfied that adequate evidence of safety, quality and efficacy has been presented, a
marketing authorization will be granted. This foreign regulatory approval process includes all of the
risks associated with FDA clearance set forth above.

11




Our Employees

As of February 28, 2007, we had 103 employees, 56 of whom hold post-graduate degrees, including 35
with a Ph.D,, M.D. or ].D. Most of our employees are engaged directly in research and development. We
have entered into confidentiality, assignment of inventions and non-competition agreements with all of
our employees. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement, and we
consider relations with our employees to be good.

Our Company

ARIAD was organized as a Delaware corporation in April 1991. Our principal executive offices are
located at 26 Landsdowne Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139-4234, and our telephone number is
(617) 494-0400. We maintain an internet website at http:/ / www .ariad.com, the contents of which are not
incorporated herein. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current
Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to such reports are made available free of charge through the
Investor Relations section of our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they have been
electronically filed with or furnished to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.

ARIAD and the ARIAD logo are our registered trademarks., ARGENT is our trademark. Other service
marks, trademarks and trade names appearing in this report are the property of their respective owners.

ITEM 1A: RISK FACTORS ,

THE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES DESCRIBED BELOW ARE THOSE THAT WE CURRENTLY
BELIEVE MAY MATERIALLY AFFECT OUR COMPANY. ADDITIONAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES THAT WE ARE UNAWARE OF ALSO MAY BECOME IMPORTANT FACTORS
THAT AFFECT OUR COMPANY. IF ANY|OF THE FOLLOWING RISKS ACTUALLY OCCUR, THEY
MAY MATERIALLY HARM OUR BUSINESS, OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION AND OUR RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS. ’

Risks Relating to Our Business

We have only one product candidate in cIir;tical trials, AP23573, and we and our partners may never
succeed in developing marketable products or generating product revenues.

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery and development of drugs to provide
therapeutic intervention in treating human: diseases at the cellular level. As with all scientific endeavors,
we face much trial and error, and we may fail at numerous stages along the way, which would inhibit us
from successfully developing, manufacturing and marketing our drug candidates.

Our lead product candidate, AP23573, is criilrrently being developed by us for cancer indications and by
our partner, Medinol, for use in stents or other medical devices to reduce reblockage of injured arteries
following stent-assisted angioplasty. AP23573 is currently in Phase Ib and 2 clinical trials for certain
cancers, and we expect to start a Phase 3 clinical trial of AP23573 in 2007 for bone and soft tissue
sarcomas. Other than AP23573, we do not|currently have any products on the market and have no
product revenues. Therefore, our near-term success is substantially dependent on our ability to obtain
marketing approval for AP23573 for cancer and the ability of our partner, Medinol, to obtain marketing
approval for its stents delivering AP23573.
|
We plan to conduct our initial Phase 3 clinjcal trial of AP23573 through the Sarcoma Alliance for Research
through Collaboration, or SARC, in cooperation with the Soft Tissue and Bone Sarcoma Group of the
European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer, or EORTC. We will be dependent upon
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the success of SARC and EORTC in conducting certain key activities for our Phase 3 trial, which may
include submitting regulatory filings and participating in meetings with regulatory agencies, forming
advisory committees, enlisting trial sites and securing patient enrollment, and entering into agreements
with contract research organizations to support the trial. SARC has limited personnel, funding and
resources, and has not sponsored a pivotal trial of any drug. While we are in negotiations with SARC
relative to the terms under which we will agree to provide AP23573 and funding for SARC to conduct
our Phase 3 trial, there can be no assurance that we will enter into an agreement with SARC on terms
acceptable to us or at all. If SARC is unsuccessful in conducting our clinical trial or if we do not reach
agreement with SARC for the conduct of such trial and we are not able to conduct our clinical trial
ourselves or with our potential partner(s), we may be required to delay, alter, or abandon our plans to
pursue our Phase 3 clinical trial in sarcoma, which would have a material adverse effect on our ability to
generate product revenues for AP23573 in the near term or at all.

We have not submitted any new drug applications for AP23573 or any other product candidate to the
FDA or foreign regulatory authorities for marketing approval. Factors which would affect our ability to
obtain regulatory approval and to achieve market acceptance and gain market share for AP23573 and
future product candidates include, among other factors, product formulation, dose, dosage regimen, our
ability to obtain timely and sufficient patient enrollment in our clinical trials, the risk of occurrence of
adverse side effects in patients participating in clinical trials, our ability to manufacture, directly or
indirectly, sufficient and cost-effective quantities of our product candidates, our ability to fund
commercial development and to build or access a sales force in the marketplace, our ability to
successfully differentiate our product candidates from competitive product(s) and to sell, market and
distribute, directly or indirectly, such product candidates. We and our medical device partner have
limited experience in designing, conducting and managing the clinical trials necessary to obtain such
regulatory approval. Additionally, although we are in negotiations to secure one or more partners, we do
not currently have any partners to assist in developing and commercializing our cancer product
candidates. We expect to be dependent upon such partners, if we are able to enter into arrangements
with one or more of them, to successfully develop and commercialize such cancer products outside the
United States. There can be no assurance that we will be able to secure any such partners on terms
favorable to us, or at all, and failure to secure one or more partners to assist in development and
comumercialization of AP23573 would have a material adverse effect on our ability to generate significant
product revenues for AP23573.

We are also dependent upon the success of Medinol and any future medical device partners to develop,
manufacture and market stents or other medical devices to deliver AP23573 to reduce reblockage of
injured arteries following stent-assisted angioplasty. To date, we have entered into only one such
agreement, with Medinol. If Medinol is not successful and/or if we are not able to enter into agreements
with additional medical device companies experienced in the development, manufacture, and marketing
of medical devices to deliver AP23573, we will not be able to generate revenues from the marketing of
stents or other medical devices that deliver AP23573.

We do not expect to have any products on the market before 2010, at the earliest, and, ultimately, we and
our partners may not have any products on the market for several years, if at all. We and our partners
may not succeed in developing or commercializing any products which will generate product revenues
for our company. If we and our partners are not successful in developing or marketing AP23573 or other
product candidates, we will not be profitable.

Insufficient funding may jeopardize our research and development programs and may require us to
reduce our operations or prevent commercialization of our products and technologies.

We have funded our operations to date through sales of equity securities, debt and, to a limited extent,
operating revenues. Most of our operating revenue to date has been generated through previous
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collaborative research and development agreements and existing licenses. Other than our $50 million
equity financing commitment from Azimuth Opportunity Ltd., we currently do not have any other
committed funding from any pharmaceutical or biotechnology company or other source to advance any
of our product development programs. Although we believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities should be sufficient to satisfy our capital and operating requirements
approximately through the third quarter of 2007, we will require substantial additional funding for our
research and development programs (including pre-clinical development and clinical trials), for
operating expenses (including intellectual property protection and enforcement), for the pursuit of
regulatory approvals and for establishing or accessing manufacturing, marketing and sales capabilities.
We may from time to time access funding from our $50 million equity financing facility which could
extend the sufficiency of our cash, cash equ‘ivalents and marketable securities to at least mid-2008. While
we intend to seek additional funding from product-based collaborations, technology licensing, and public
or private financings, and are currently in negotiations with several companies for a partnership to
develop and commercialize AP23573, such hdditional funding may not be available on terms acceptable
to us, or at all. Accordingly, we may not be: able to secure the significant funding which is required to
maintain our operations or continue to funcii each of our research and development programs at their
current levels or at levels that may be requi'red in the future. If we cannot secure adequate financing, we
may be required to reduce our operations, to delay, scale back, eliminate or terminate clinical trials

and/ or seeking marketing approval for AP23573 for one or more indications, to delay, scale back or
eliminate clinical trials for AP24534 or one dr more of our other research and development programs, or
to enter into licenses, settlements or other alrrangements with third parties on terms that may be
unfavorable to us to purchase, commercialize or otherwise obtain rights in our products, technologies or
intellectual property.

We have incurred significant losses to date and may never be profitable.

We have incurred significant operating losses in each year since our formation in 1991 and have an
accumulated deficit of $309.0 million through December 31, 2006. Our losses have resulted principally
from costs incurred in research and development of our product candidates, including clinical
development of AP23573, our lead product candidate, and from general and administrative costs,
including costs incurred to prosecute and protect our intellectual property, associated with our |
operations. It is likely that we will incur significant operating losses for the foreseeable future, and we

expect such losses to increase as we advanc:e AP23573 into our initial Phase 3 clinical trial in 2007 and

begin to build a sales and marketing organization in anticipation of obtaining regulatory approval to

market AP23573, which approval may nev. or oceur. We currently have no product revenues, limited

license revenues and limited commitmentsjfor future licensing revenues, and may not be able to generate

such revenues in the future. If our losses continue and we and our existing partner or potential future

partners are unable to successfully developl, commercialize, manufacture and market our product

candidates and/or we are unable to enter into agreements and licenses of our intellectual property, we

may never generate sufficient revenues to achieve profitability. Even if we and our partners are able to
commercialize products and we are able toienter into agreements or licenses in the future, we may never

generate sufficient revenues to have profitable operations.

We hiave limited manufacturing experience|and are dependent upon the ability of third parties to
mamifacture our product candidates, which raises uncertainty as to our ability to develop and
commercialize our product candidates.

We have no experience in manufacturing any of our product candidates on a large scale and have
contracted or are contracting with third party manufacturers of AP23573 to provide material for clinical
trials and potential commercial launch, and to assist in the development and optimization of our
manufacturing processes and methods. Our ability to conduct clinical trials and commercialize our
product candidates will depend on the ability of such third parties to manufacture our products on a
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large scale at a competitive cost and in accordance with current good manufacturing practices, or cGMPs,
and other regulatory requirements. [f we are not able to obtain contract manufacturing on commercially
reasonable terms, obtain or develop the necessary materials and technologies for manufacturing, or
obtain intellectual property rights necessary for manufacturing, or if our contract manufacturers fail to
provide us with the quantities and quality of the products we require in a timely manner, we may not be
able to conduct or complete clinical trials or commercialize our product candidates. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to obtain such requisite terms, materials, technologies and intellectual
property necessary to successfully manufacture our product candidates for clinical trials or
commercialization.

We will continue to expend significant resources on the enforcement and licensing of our NF-xB patent
portfolio and may be unable to generate inaterial revenues from these efforts if we are unable to enforce
against, or license our NF-kB patents to, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.

We are the exclusive licensee of a family of patents, three in the U.S. and one in Europe, including a
pioneering U.S. patent covering methods of treating human disease by regulating NF-kB cell-signaling
activity, hereinafter referred to as the ‘516 Patent, awarded to a team of inventors from The Whitehead
Institute for Biomedical Research, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Harvard University. Dr.
David Baltimore, the former president of the California Institute of Technology and one of our
consultants and scientific founders, is a lead inventor of the ’516 Patent and a member of the board of
directors of Amgen Inc. We have a licensing program to generate revenues from the discovery,
development, manufacture and sale of products covered by our NF-xB patent portfolio. These patents
have been, and in the future may be, challenged and may be subsequently narrowed, invalidated,
declared unenforceable or circumvented, any of which could materially impact our ability to generate
licensing revenues from them.

We are currently engaged in two litigations concerning the ‘516 patent. Together with the academic
institutions, we filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts, against
Eli Lilly and Company, alleging infringement of certain claims of the "516 Patent through sales of Lilly’s
osteoporosis drug, Evista®, and its septic shock drug, Xigris®, and we are the defendant in a lawsuit filed
by Amgen Inc. and certain affiliated entities in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware seeking
a declaratory judgment that each of the claims contained in the ‘516 Patent is invalid and that Amgen has
not infringed any of the claims of the ‘516 Patent based on activities related to Amgen’s products, Enbrel ®
and Kineret®. In addition, upon requests filed by Lilly and by a third party, the PTO is reexamining the
patentability of certain claims of the ‘516 Patent in reexamination proceedings that are currently pending.
See a description of the status of these matters in the section entitled “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We cannot provide any assurance that other third parties, who may
be infringing our NF-kB patents, will not seek to initiate similar, further proceedings for declaratory relief
or reexamination with regard to the 516 Patent or other NF-kB patents. As exclusive licensee of the ‘516
Patent, we are obligated for the costs expended for its prosecution in the PTO, for its enforcement in the
above noted litigations and otherwise. Therefore, we will continue to expend significant capital and
management resources pursuing these matters in court and in the reexamination process in the PTO, and
the outcome is uncertain.

If some of the claims of the ‘516 Patent are invalidated by the PTO or in the courts or found not to be
infringed in these matters, we will not realize any revenues on sales of the above-named products, and
could be liable under certain limited circumstances in the Lilly litigation for litigation costs and
potentially attorneys’ fees. Additionally, although we have prevailed in the jury trial in the Lilly
litigation, the damages awarded to us and the other Plaintiffs could be subsequently eliminated or
limited by an adverse finding by the judge in the U.S. District Court in her ruling following the bench
trial, upon appeal, or in the event that the claims of the '516 Patent are invalidated by the PTO.
Invalidation of any of the claims of the '516 Patent in litigation or by the PTO or in the courts would have
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a significant adverse impact on our ability to generate revenues from our NF-«B licensing program from
any potential licensee. ‘Moreover, significant expenditures to enforce these patent rights, particularly
with respect to the pending litigation initiated by Amgen, without generating revenues or accessing
additional capital or other funding, could a’dversely impact our ability to further our clinical programs
and our research and development programs at the current levels or at levels that may be required in the
future.

Because we do not own all of the outstandiing stock of our subsidiary, AGTI, we will not realize all of
the potential future economic benefit from products developed based on technology licensed to or owned
by AGTL

Our 80%-owned subsidiary, AGTI, holds licenses from Harvard University, Stanford University and
other universities relating to the ARGENT cell-signaling regulation technology, and owns the intellectual
property on mTOR inhibitors derived from the ARGENT programs, including AP23573. The two
directors of AGTI, Harvey ]. Berger, M.D,, our Chief Executive Officer, and Jay R. LaMarche, our former
Chief Financial Officer, are also members of our Board of Directors. Minority stockholders of AGTI,
including Harvard University, Stanford Ur{lversﬂy, Dr. Berger, Mr. LaMarche, several of our scientific
advisors, and several other current and former members of our management own 20% of the issued and
outstanding common stock of AGTL

We do not have a license agreement with AGTI that provides us with rights to comrnercialize product
candidates based on the ARGENT cell- 51gnalmg regulation technology or mTOR inhibitors derived from
AGTI’s programs, solely for our benefit, as'opposed to the benefit of AGTI. All of the research and
development activities of AGTI, including the development of AP23573, have been conducted by us on
behalf of AGTI pursuant to a research and development agreement. The purpose of the agreement is to
allow AGTI to develop products based on 1‘ts technology, and AGTI owns all improvements to its
technology developed by us. The agreement provides that, upon demand by us, AGTI will either
advance funds to us or reimburse us, on a ¢ost plus 10% basis, for all funds advanced by us associated
with the cost of our research and developn}ent activities on its behalf. However, AGTI has no
independent funding or capital resources, ."md we have funded ail research and development services on
AGTT's behalf since its inception in 1994. As a result, we have accrued an inter-company receivable
totaling approximately $182 million as of [?ecember 31, 2006, of which approximately $109 million has
been accrued since January 1, 2003, as we have advanced the clinical development of AP23573.

The inter-company receivable on our books and records and the related payable on the bocks of AGTI are
eliminated in accordance with generally ac{tepted accounting principles in our consolidated financial
statements. We expect our inter-company }'eceivable from AGTI to continue to increase significantly as
we seek to further advance the developmerlxt of AP23573. In addition, we have spent approximately $4.8
million through December 31, 2006, and expect to spend significant additional amounts, on pre-launch
and other commercialization-related achvmes for AP23573. The research and development agreement
does not provide a mechanism for establlshmg a marketing plan or for the reimbursement by AGTI to us
of such expenditures. Other than repayment of the amounts advanced by us on a cost plus 10% fee basis,
we are not entitled to receive from AGTI aﬁy rights or other remuneration under the research and
development agreement, and, accordingly,|our future economic benefit from the commercialization of
such products on behalf of AGTI will only be in the form of dividends or other payments received in
respect of our 80% ownership interest in AGTI.

Consequently, as the inter-company receivable has increased to fund the development of AP23573, in
order to maximize the value of ARIAD for iour stockholders and to mitigate or eliminate the conflicts of
interest which currently exist between ARIAD and AGTI, the independent members of our Board of
Directors (all of ARIAD's Board members other than Dr. Berger and Mr. LaMarche) are currently
engaged in evaluating a variety of sl‘rategm alternatives with respect to acquiring the 20% minority
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interest of AGTI that we do not own and have hired independent legal counsel and financial consultants
to assist them in their evaluation. Considerations being taken into account by the independent members
of the Board in determining whether to acquire the 20% minority interest include the significant increase
in our receivable from AGTI, which is expected to continue to increase significantly, the expectation that
the perceived value of the 20% minority interest of AGTI will likely increase as the clinical development
of AP23573 progresses, the conflicts of interest that exist between ARIAD and AGTI, and the fact that we
advance 100% of the research and development costs for AP23573 to AGTI but are only entitled to receive
reimbursement of costs plus a 10% fee, together with whatever benefit may be received through our 80%
ownership of AGTI. We anticipate that in the context of valuing the 20% minority interest in AGTI for
purposes of a possible acquisition of the stock of the minority shareholders, the inter-company receivable
from AGTI will be taken into consideration.

If ARIAD's independent and disinterested directors determine it to be in the best interests of ARIAD's
stockholders to commercialize these product candidates solely for ARIAD's own benefit, ARIAD may
seek to negotiate with AGTI and/or its minority stockholders to obtain a license, on terms to be
determined, granting ARIAD the sole rights to commercialize such product candidates and technologies.
If we were to enter into such a license, the future economic benefit to ARIAD from the commercialization
of such products, if any, will be diminished by any royalties or other payments paid under a future
agreement with AGTL If ARIAD does not enter into such a license, then the future economic benefit to
ARIAD from the commercialization of such products on behalf of AGTI will only be in the form of
dividends or other payments received in respect of ARIAD's 80% ownership interest in AGTI.

Alternatively, if ARIAD's independent and disinterested directors determine it to be in the best interests
of ARIAD's stockholders, ARIAD may seek to acquire some or all of the interests of the minority
stockholders in AGTI1 for cash, shares of ARIAD’s common stock, or other securities in a merger,
exchange offer or other transaction. If ARIAD acquires all of the interests of the minority stockholders in
AGTI, then ARIAD will receive all of the future economic benefit from the commercialization of such
products on its own behalf to the extent that the securities or other consideration exchanged by ARIAD in
the transaction do not entitle the minority stockholders of AGTI to continue to receive payments on a
contingent and/ or installment basis. If ARIAD acquires these minority interests, we anticipate that this
transaction will require the incurrence of significant transaction costs, which are currently unknown, and
if the consideration exchanged for these minority interests is in the form of equity of ARIAD, we
anticipate that this transaction will result in dilution to ARIAD’s stockholders. On January 13, 2004,
ARIAD acquired an additional 351,909 shares of AGTI common stock, representing approximately 6% of
AGTTI's outstanding common stock, for a total purchase price of approximately $8.8 million, effected
through the reduction of inter-company debt, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, in order to
maintain ARIAD's 80% interest in AGTI. While such valuation was recommended by the Company and
approved based on a good-faith determination made by the independent and disinterested members of
ARIAD's Board of Directors as of that date, the economic value of the minority stockholders’ interests is
difficult to quantify in the absence of a public market. If ARIAD acquires all of the interests of the
minority stockholders in AGTI, a variety of valuation methodologies may be emploved to determine the
value per share of AGTI common stock. Factors impacting this valuation would include the progress,
likelihood and cost of development and commercialization of AP23573 and other product candidates and
technologies, potential future income streams there from, availability of funding and other factors. If
ARIAD acquires the minority interests for consideration valued in excess of the value implicitly
attributed to such AGTI shares by the market, which implicit value is difficult to determine, this could
result in a decline in ARIAD’s stock price. if ARIAD chooses to acquire some or all of these minority
interests through a merger in which ARIAD does not solicit the consent of the minority stockholders of
AGTI, ARIAD could become subject to litigation or an appraisal procedure, which would result in
additional expense and diversion of management resources.
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As noted above, the independent and dlsmterested members of ARTAD’s Board of Directors have
engaged legal counsel and financial consultants to help them evaluate strategic alternatives with respect
to acquiring the 20% minority interest of AGTI that ARIAD does not own, and ARIAD's independent and
disinterested directors may engage other advisors to assist them with such evaluation. While this
evaluation is currently ,ongoing, there can ble no assurance that ARIAD will, at any time, enter into a
transaction with AGTI as a result of this evaluation. If any of these strategic options is pursued as a result
of the evaluation by ARIAD's independent/and disinterested directors, there can be no assurance as to the
timing of any such transaction, the form of such transaction, the particular transaction terms such as the
form, amount or timing of payment of consideration offered or provided by ARIAD to the minority
stockholders in AGTI, ARIAD's ability to effectuate any such transaction, or the consequences of any
such proposed or completed transaction toIARIAD or the AGTI minority stockholders.

Because members of ARIAD’s management team and/or Board of Directors beneficially own a material
percentage of the capital stock of its subs:d:ary, AGTI, and ARIAD has agreements with AGTI, there are
conflicts of interest present in dealings betiveen ARIAD and AGTL

Four members of ARIAD’s management te’am and/or Board of Directors own approximately 5.6% of the
outstanding capital stock of AGTL Harvey] Berger, M.D., Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, owns
3.2%, David L. Berstein, Esq., Senior Vice Pfretndent and Chief Patent Counsel, owns (.2%, John D.
Tuliucci, Ph.D., Senior Vice President and Chief Development Officer, owns 0.6% and Jay R. LaMarche,
one of ARIAD's directors and former Chiet Financial Officer, owns 1.6%. These same individuals
benefictally own an aggregate of approxinﬁ'jtely 3.1% of ARIAD’s outstanding common stock. Dr. Stuart
L. Schreiber, a Harvard professor who is o he of our scientific founders, owns approximately 3.2% of the
outstanding capital stock of AGTI. Dr. Da\Ifid Baltimore, the former president of the California Institute
of Technology and one of our consultants and scientific founders, owns approximately 0.06% of the
capital stock of AGTI. Additionally, Dr. Be!rger and Mr. LaMarche are the two ARIAD board members
who are also the sole members of the Board of Directors of AGTL All of the research and development
activities of AGTI, including the developm‘ent of AP23573, have been conducted by us on behalf of AGTI
pursuant to a research and development agreement. As a result, conflicts of interest exist in dealings
between AGTI and ARIAD, including those relating to allocation of funds and resources between ARIAD
and AGTI and the prioritization of research and development programs. In addition, these conflicts of
interest create the risk that any transaction between ARIAD and AGTI will not provide terms as favorable
to ARIAD as could be achieved in an armsilength negotiation. Moreover, even if the conflicts of interest
do not influence a particular transaction between ARIAD and AGTI, because of the apparent conflicts of
interest, the market may be more inclined to perceive the terms of any transaction between ARIAD and
AGTI as being unfair to ARIAD.

The loss of key members of our scientific and management staff could delay and may prevent the
achievement of our research, development and business objectives.

Our performance as a specialized scientifid business is substantially dependent on our key officers and
members of our scientific staff responsiblelfor areas such as drug development, clinical trials, regulatory
affairs, drug discovery, manufacturing, marketing, business development and intellectual property
protection and licensing. We also are depéndent upon a few of our scientific advisors to assist in
formulating our research and development strategy. While we have entered into employment
agreements with all of our executive officeirs, these officers may terminate their employment with us at
any time. The loss of, and failure to promptly replace, any member of our management team could
significantly delay and may prevent the achievement of our research, development and business
objectives.
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We are dependent upon the ability of our medical device partner and potential additional partners to
develop, manufacture, test and market stents or other medical devices to deliver AI?23573.

We have no experience in the development of medical devices and do not intend ourselves to develop
stents or other medical devices to deliver AP23573. Instead, we have granted one license and, under that
license agreement, we may grant up to two additional licenses, under our rights to AP23573 to medical
device companies for their use in developing and commercializing such medical devices to reduce
blockage of injured vessels following stent-assisted angioplasty.

While we expect to supply AP23573 to our medical device pariner and any additional partners, we will
be otherwise dependent upon them to develop and commercialize stents or other medical devices to
deliver AP23573. Such medical device partners will have various degrees of scientific, technical, medical
and regulatory experience and resources to, directly or through third parties, develop, manufacture, test
or market stents or other medical devices to deliver AP23573. Their ability to conduct clinical trials and
commercialize such medical devices will be dependent on the safety profile of AP23573 and our ability to
manufacture and supply AP23573, either directly or through third parties, at a competitive cost and in
accordance with cGMPs and other regulatory requirements. We depend upon third-party manufacturers
or collaborative partners for the production of AP23573 for clinical trials and intend to use third-party
manufacturers to produce AP23573 on a commercial scale. Our reliance on third-party manufacturers
and their potential inability to meet our supply commitments to one or more of our partners could
adversely impact the ability of our partners to commercialize stents or other medical devices to deliver
AP23573.

We anticipate that our partners will seek to develop and commercialize stents or other medical devices to
deliver AP23573 that do not infringe third-party patents. However, there can be no assurance that the
devices delivering AP23573 marketed by our partners will not be subject to third-party claims.
Furthermore, the patents issued to us or our partners covering AP23573 and/or medical devices,
including stents, may be subject to challenge and may be subsequently narrowed, invalidated or
circumvented. Either such event would adversely impact the ability of one or more of our partners to
market their stents or other medical devices to deliver AP23573.

Our existing license agreement with Medinol allows either party to terminate under certain
circumstances, including Medinol’s reasonable business judgment that development of a medical device
to deliver AP23573 is not feasible. Accordingly, Medinol may be unable to develop a medical device to
deliver AP23573 and we may also not be able to enter into any additional licensing agreements with any
other medical device companies to develop such devices on terms which are acceptable to us, or at all.
Our inability to enter into such transactions, or the inability of one or more of our partners to develop or
commercialize stents or other medical devices to deliver AP23573 for any reason, will adversely impact
our ability to generate revenues from any licenses of AP23573.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property relating to our research programs, technologies
and product candidates.

We and our licensors have issued patents and pending patent applications covering research methods
useful in drug discovery, new chemical compounds discovered in our drug discovery programs
including, among others, AP23573, certain components, configurations and uses of our cell-signaling
regulation technologies and products-in-development, methods and materials for manufacturing our
products-in-development and other pharmaceutical products and methods and materials for conducting
pharmaceutical research. We have a licensing program to generate revenues from the use of our
ARGENT cell-signaling regulation technologies and our NF-xB intellectual property. Pending patent
applications may not issue as patents and may not issue in all countries in which we develop,
manufacture or sell our products or in countries where others develop, manufacture and sell products
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using our technologies.! In addition, patent:s issued to us or our licensors may be chalienged, as is the case
with the Lilly litigation and related PTO proceedings and the Amgen litigation regarding the NF- kB '516
Patent, and they may be subsequently narrowed, invalidated or circumvented. In that event, such
patents may not afford meaningful protection for our technologies or product candidates, which would
materially impact our ability to develop and market our product candidates and to generate licensing
revenues from our patent portfolio. Certain technologies utilized in our research and development
programs are already in the public domam! Moreover, a number of our competitors have developed
technologies, filed patent applications or obtained patents on technologies, compositions and methods of
use that are related to our business and may cover or conflict with our patent applications, technologies
or product candidates. Such conflicts could limit the scope of the patents that we may be able to obtain or
may result in the denial of our patent appIi'cations. If a third party were to obtain intellectual property
protection for any of the foregoing, we may be required to challenge such protection, terminate or modify
our programs impacted by such protection or obtain licenses from such third parties, which might not be
available or acceptable terms or at all. Alsq, if a third party were to introduce a product into the market
which we believe infringes our patents, we may be required to enforce our patent rights or seek to obtain
an injunction or other relief, which could be time consuming or expensive.

We may be unable to develop or commercialize our product candidates if we are unable to obtain or
maintain certain licenses on commercial terins or at all.

We have entered, and will continue to enter, into agreements, either directly or through AGTI, with third
parties to test compounds, blood and tissue samples, to perform gene expression analysis and to develop
biological tests for use with our product candidates, which testing may yield new inventions and
discoveries requiring us to obtain licenses in order to exclusively develop or market new products, alone
or in combination with our product candidlates, or to develop or market our product candidates for new
indications. We have also entered into license agreements for some of our technologies, either directly or
through AGTI. We use third parties to tesll; blood and tissue samples and other biological materials in our
clinical programs and to develop biological tests, with respect to which we may be required to obtain
licenses or pay royalties or other fees in order to commercialize such tests for use with our product
candidates. We also use gene sequences or proteins encoded by those sequences and other biological
materials in each of our research programs which are, or may become, patented by others and to which
we would be required to obtain licenses inJorder to develop or market our product candidates.
Manufacturing and/or use of our products may also require licensing biological materials, technologies
and intellectual property from third parties. Our inability to obtain any one or more of these licenses, on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or to circumvent the need for any such license, could cause
significant delays and cost increases and m:aterially affect our ability to develop and commercialize or
prevent us from developing and commercializing our product candidates. Obtaining licenses for these
discoveries, materials and technologies may require us to make cumulative royalty payments or other
payments to several third parties, potentlally reducing amounts paid to us or making the cost of our
products comumercially prohibitive.

Some of our licenses obligate us to exercisJ diligence in pursuing the development of product candidates,
to make specified milestone payments and|to pay royalties. In some instances, we are responsible for the
costs of filing and prosecuting patent applications and actions to enforce our rights against infringers.
These licenses generally expire upon the earller of a fixed term of years after the date of the license or the
expiration of the applicable patents, but eaTch license is also terminable by the other party upon default by
us of our obligations. QOur inability or failure to meet our diligence requirements or make any payments
required under these licenses would resul Fin a reversion to the licensor of the rights granted which, with
respect to the licenses pursuant to which we have obtained exclusive rights, would materially and
adversely affect our ability to develop and|market products based on our licensed technologies.




Competing technologies may render some or all of our programs or future products noncompetitive or
obsolete.

Many well-known pharmaceutical, healthcare and biotechnology companies, academic and research
institutions and government agencies, which have substantially greater capital, research and
development capabilities and experience than us or our potential partners, are presently engaged in one
or more of the following activities:

¢ developing products based on cell signaling, genomics, proteomics, and computational chemistry;

» conducting research and development programs for the treatment of the various disease indications
in which we are focused; and

e manufacturing, promoting, marketing and selling pharmaceutical or medical device products for
treatment of diseases in all of the various disease indications in which we or our current or possible
future partners are focused.

Some of these entities already have competitive products on the market or product candidates in clinical
trials or in more advanced preclinical studies than we do. Many of these entities also have substantially
greater research, development, manufacturing and marketing resources and experience than us. In
particular, we are aware that Wyeth and Novartis have mTOR inhibitors in Phase 3 clinical trials which
are competitive with AP23573, our lead product candidate. Additionally, PharmaMar and its partner,
Johnson & Johnson, have a marine derived antitumoral agent currently under registration for the
treatment of soft tissue sarcomas. By virtue of having or introducing competitive products on the market
before us, these entities may gain a competitive advantage. Competing technologies may render some or
all of our programs or future products noncompetitive or obsolete, and we may not be able to make the
enhancements to our technology necessary to compete successfully with newly emerging technologies. If
we are unable to successfully compete in our chosen markets, we will not become profitable.

If our product candidates are not accepted by patients, physicians and insurers, we will not be successful.

Our success is dependent on the acceptance of any approved products. Our product candidates may not
achieve market acceptance among patients, physicians or third-party payors, even if we obtain necessary
regulatory and reimbursement approvals. Physicians and health care payors may conclude that any of
our product candidates are not as safe and/or effective as competing therapies or are not as attractive
based on a cost/benefit analysis as alternative treatments. Failure to achieve significant market
acceptance of our product candidates will harm our business. We believe that recommendations by
physicians and health care payors will be essential for market acceptance of any product candidates.

If we are unable to establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities or to enter into agreements
with third parties to do so, we may be unable to successfully market and sell any products.

We are currently establishing a commercial oncology organization, but we have no experience in
marketing or selling any products. While we intend to commercialize our product candidates in the
United States and to enter into agreements with partner(s) to commercialize our product candidates
elsewhere, we may be unable to successfully, directly or indirectly, sell any products that we obtain
marketing approval to sell. If we are unable to effectively sell our products, our ability to generate
revenues will be materially adversely affected. We may not be able to hire, in a timely manner, the
qualified sales and marketing personnel we need, if at all. In addition, we may not be able to enter into
any marketing or distribution agreements on acceptable terms, if at all. If we cannot establish sales,
marketing and distribution capabilities as we intend, either by developing our own capabilities or
entering into agreements with third parties, sales of future products, if any, may be harmed.
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If we develop a product for commercial use,l a subsequent product liability-related claim or recall could
have an adverse effect on our business,

Our business exposes us to potential product liability risks inherent in the testing, manufacturing and
marketing of pharmaceutical products. Pridr to obtaining regulatory approval to market our products,
we are required to test such products in human clinical trials at health care institutions pursuant to
agreements which indemnify such institutigns in case of harm caused to patients by our products. We
may not be able to avoid significant producl liability exposure resulting from use of our products. A
product liability-related claim or recall could be detrimental to our business. In addition, except for
insurance covering product use in our clinic:al trials, we do not currently have any product liability
insurance, and we may not be able to obtain| or maintain such insurance on acceptable terms, or we may
not be able to obtain any insurance to provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities, including
liabilities arising from our clinical trials. Our inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage at an
acceptable cost or otherwise to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or limit the
commercialization of any products that we develop.

Significant additional losses or insufficient{funding may cause us to defanlt on certain covenants of our
loan documents.

At Decemnber 31, 2006, we had $5.7 million qutstanding under a term loan agreement with a bank,

pursuant to which we are required to main%in certain financial and non-financial covenants, including

minimum cash, cash equivalents and investments of $13 million, a default of any of which would allow

the bank to demand payment of its loan. We currently have sufficient liquidity to fund payment of this

loan if demand for payment were made. Inaddition, we have a commitment for $50 million of equity !
financing which we can access, subject to certain terms and conditions. However, if we are unable to
raise adequate financing to fund contmumgl operations or otherwise to refinance our loan, we may not be
able to maintain compliance with loan covenants, may be required to pay off the loan and may be
required to reduce our spending on operations.

Risks Relating to Governmental Approvals

We have limited experience in conducting cllinical trials, which may cause delays in commencing and
completing clinical trials of our product carlta'ida tes.

Clinical trials must meet FDA and foreign rlgulatory requirements. We have limited experience in
designing, conducting and managing the preclinical studies and clinical trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approval for our product candidates in any country. We or our collaborative partners may
encounter problems in clinical trials that may cause us or the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies to delay,
suspend or terminate our clinical trials at any phase. These problems could include the possibility that
we may not be able to manufacture suff1c1erl1t quantities of cGMP materials for use in our clinical trials,
conduct clinical trials at our preferred sites, enroll a sufficient number of patients for our clinical trials at
one or more sites, or begin or successfully complete clinical trials in a timely fashion, if at all.

Furthermore, we, the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies may suspend clinical trials of our product
candidates at any time if we or they believe the subjects participating in the trials are being exposed to
unacceptable health risks as a result of advelrse events occurring in our trials or if we or they find
deficiencies in the clinical trial process or conduct of the investigation. With respect to AP23573, the FDA
or foreign regulatory agencies may also suspend our clinical trials if we or they believe the subjects
participating in the trials are being exposed ito unacceptable health risks as a result of adverse events
occurring in the trials of medical devices delivering AP23573 sponsored by our medical device partner or
future partners. If clinical trials of any of our product candidates fail, we will not be able to market the
product candidate which is the subject of the failed clinical trials. The FDA and foreign regulatory
agencies could also require additional clinicpl trials before or after granting of marketing approval for any
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of our products, which would result in increased costs and significant delays in the development and
commercialization of our products and could result in the withdrawal of our products from the market
after obtaining marketing approval. Our failure to adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of a
product candidate in clinical development could delay or prevent obtaining marketing approval of the
product candidate and, after obtaining marketing approval, data from post-approval studies could result
in the product being withdrawn from the market, either of which would likely have a material adverse
effect on our business.

We may not be able to obtain government regulatory approval to market our product candidates.

To date, we have not submitted a marketing application for any product candidate to the FDA or any
foreign regulatory agency, and none of our product candidates has been approved for commercialization
in any country. Prior to commercialization, each product candidate will be subject to an extensive and
lengthy governmental regulatory approval process in the United States and in other countries. We or any
prospective partners or our medical device partner or future partners may not be able to obtain
regulatory approval for any product candidates, or even if approval is obtained, the labeling for such
products may place restrictions on their use that could materially impact the marketability and
profitability of the product subject to such restrictions. Satisfaction of these regulatory requirements,
which includes satisfying the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities that the product is both safe and
effective for its intended uses, typically takes several years or more depending upon the type, complexity
and novelty of the product and requires the expenditure of substantial resources. Uncertainty with
respect to meeting the regulatory requirements governing our product candidates may result in excessive
costs or extensive delays in the regulatory approval process, adding to the already lengthy review
process. If regulatory approval of a product is granted, such approval will be limited to those disease
states and conditions for which the product is proven safe and effective, as demonstrated by clinical
trials, and may not include all of the indications necessary to successfully market the product. Even
though we have obtained orphan drug designation by the FDA and EMEA for AP23573 in bone and soft-
tissue sarcomas, this designation may be challenged by others or may prove to be of no practical benefit.

We will not be able to sell our product candidates if we or our third-party manufacturers fail to comply
with FDA manufacturing regulations.

Before we can begin to commercially manufacture our product candidates, we must either secure
manufacturing in an FDA approved manufacturing facility or obtain regulatory approval of our own
manufacturing facility and processes. In addition, the manufacturing of our product candidates must
comply with cGMP requirements of the FDA and similar requirements of regulatory agencies in other
countries. These requirements govern, among other things, quality control and documentation
procedures. We, or any third-party manufacturer of our product candidates, may not be able to comply
with these requirements, which would prevent us from selling such products. Material changes to the
manufacturing processes of our products after approvals have been granted are also subject to review
and approval by the FDA or other regulatory agencies. Post approval, such facilities are subject to
continuing FDA and foreign regulatory inspections and failure to comply with cGMPs or similar
regulations can result in regulatory action up to and including cessation of shipment of product.

Even if we bring products to market, we may be unable to effectively price our products or obtain
adequate reimbursement for sales of our products, which would prevent our products from becoming
profitable.

If we succeed in bringing any product candidates to the market, they may not be considered cost-
effective, and coverage and adequate payments may not be available or may not be sufficient to allow us
to sell our products on a competitive basis. In both the United States and elsewhere, sales of medical
products and treatments are dependent, in part, on the availability of reimbursement from third-party
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payors, such as health maintenance organizations and other private insurance plans and governmental
programs such as Medicare. Third-party pzlyors are increasingly challenging the prices charged for
pharmaceutical products and services. Ourjbusiness is affected by the efforts of government and third-
party payors to contain or reduce the cost of health care through various means. In the United States,
there have been and will continue to be a number of federal and state proposals to implement
government controls on pricing. Similar goyernment pricing controls exist in varying degrees in other
countries. In addition, the emphasis on managed care in the United States has increased and will
continue to increase the pressure on the pricing of pharmaceutical products. We cannot predict whether
any legislative or regulatory proposals will be adopted or the effect these proposals or managed care
efforts may have on our business.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

Results of our operations, general market conditions for biotechnology stocks and other factors could
result in a sudden change in the value of ou::‘ stock.

I
As a biopharmaceutical company, we have experienced significant volatility in our common stock. In
2006, our stock price ranged from a high of $7.78 to a low of $3.27. Factors that can contribute to such
volatility may include: announcements regarding results and timing of preclinical studies and clinical
trials; transactions to acquire or otherwise maximize the value of technology held by AGTT; evidence of
the safety or efficacy of pharmaceutical pron%,lucts; announcements regarding product developments or
regulatory approvals obtained by companies developing competing products; decisions by regulatory
agencies that impact or may impact our product candidates; the results and timing of efforts by our
partner or future partners to develop stents or other medical devices to deliver AP23573; announcements
of new collaborations; announcements of new equity or debt financings or of issuances under our equity
financing commitment; failure to enter into collaborations; our funding requirements; announcements of
technological innovations or new therapeutic products; developments relating to intellectual property
rights, including licensing, litigation and goyvernmental regulation and, in particular, our litigation with
Lilly and with Amgen and reexamination proceedings in the PTO with respect to the ‘516 Patent;
healthcare or cost-containment legislation; gieneral market trends for the biotechnology industry and
related high-technology industries; the imp%xct of exchange rates for the U.S. dollar; the impact of
changing interest rates and policies of the Federal Reserve; and public policy pronouncements. These
and other factors could have a significant in|1pact on the value and volatility of our common stock in
future periods,

Raising additional capital by issuing securities or through collaboration and licensing arrangements
may cause dilution to existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish
proprietary rights. [

We may seek to raise the additional capital necessary to fund our operations through public or private
equity offerings, debt financings, and co]labPration and licensing arrangements, including from our $50
million equity financing facility and/or from a potential collaboration for the development and
commercialization of our lead product candidate. To the extent that we raise additional capital through
the sale of equity or convertible debt securit?'es, our stockholders” ownership interest will be diluted, and
the terms of such securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our
stockholders’ rights. Under an existing loan agreement with a bank, we are required to maintain certain
financial and non-financial covenants, including covenants limiting or restricting our ability to incur
additional debt or declare dividends. If we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing
arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or
product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.




Anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law, provisions in our charter and bylaws and our stockholders’
rights plan, or poison pill, could make a third-party acquisition of us difficult.

Because we are a Delaware corporation, the anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law could make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire control of us, even if the change in control would be beneficial to
stockholders. We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of
Delaware, which prohibits us from engaging in certain business combinations, unless the business
combination is approved in a prescribed manner. In addition, our certificate of incorporation and our
bylaws, each as currently in effect, also contain certain provisions that may make a third-party acquisition
of us difficult, including;

¢ aclassified board of directors, with three classes of directors each serving a staggered three-year
term;

» the ability of the board of directors to issue preferred stock; and
e the inability of our stockholders to call a special meeting.

We also have implemented a stockholders’ rights plan, also called a poison pill, which could make it
uneconomical for a third party to acquire our company on a hostile basis. These provisions, as well as
Section 203, may discourage certain types of transactions in which our stockholders might otherwise
receive a premium for their shares over the current market price, and may limit the ability of our
stockholders to approve transactions that they think may be in their best interests.

ITEM 1B: UNRESQLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have received no written comments from the SEC staff regarding our periodic or current reports
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which comments remain unresolved.

ITEM 2: PROPERTIES

We have leased approximately 100,000 square feet (approximately 31,000 square feet currently under
sublease to a third party through July 2007) of laboratory and office space at 26 Landsdowne Street,
Cambridge, Massachusetts through July 2012, with two consecutive five-year renewal options. We
believe that our currently leased facility will, in large part, be adequate for our research and development
activities at least through the year 2008. We believe that any additional space we may require will be
available on commercially reasonable terms.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
NF-kB Patent Infringement Litigation and Reexamination
Lilly Litigation

In 2002, we, together with Massachusetts Institute of Technology, The Whitehead Institute for Biomedical
Research and Harvard University {collectively, the Plaintiffs) filed a lawsuit in the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts, or the U.S. District Court, against Eli Lilly and Company, or Lilly,
alleging infringement of certain claims, or the NF-xB ‘516 Claims, of the Plaintiffs’ U.5. Patent No.
6,410,516, or the ‘516 Patent, covering methods of treating human disease by regulating NF-«xB cell-
signaling activity through sales of Lilly’s osteoporosis drug, Evista®, and Lilly’s septic shock drug,
Xigris®, and seeking monetary damages from Lilly.
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This case was tried before a jury in the U.S. District Court from April 10, 2006 through April 28, 2006.
After deliberations, on May 4, 2006, the jury rendered a verdict in favor of the Plaintiffs by finding that
the NF-kB ‘516 Claims asserted in the lawsuit are valid and infringed by Lilly through sales of Evista and
Xigris in the United States. One defense regarding validity was not submitted to the jury and was instead
the subject of a bench trial, as addressed below. The jury awarded damages to the Plaintiffs in the
amount of approximately $65.2 million, basLed on the jury’s determination of a reasonable royalty rate of
2.3% to be paid by Lilly to the Plaintiffs based on U.S. sales of Evista and Xigris from the date of the filing
of the lawsuit on June 25, 2002 through February 28, 2006. The jury awarded further damages on an
ongoing basis, in amounts to be determmed equal to 2.3% of U.S. sales of Evista and Xigris through the
year 2019, when the patent expires. If the vlFrdict is upheld, damages paid by Lilly will be applied first to
reimburse us for any unreimbursed legal fees and expenses relating to the litigation. We will receive 91%
of the remainder, and the co-plaintiffs will r!eceive 9%.

A separate trial, or bench trial, was held in the U.S. District Court from August 7, 2006 through August 9,
2006 on certain defenses asserted by Lilly relatmg to the enforceability of the NF-xB ‘516 Claims and one
defense related to the validity of these clam}s We are currently awaiting the judge’s ruling on the issues
tried in the bench trial before a final judgment may be entered in this lawsuit. Lilly has the right to file
motions challenging the jury’s verdict in this lawsuit, and, upon the entry of a final judgment by the US.
District Court, to file an appeal of the jury’sverdict and other rulings by the U.S. District Court with the
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.

Amgen Litigation

On April 20, 2006, Amgen Inc. and certain affiliated entities, or Amgen, filed a lawsuit against us in the U.S.
District Court for the District of Delaware, or the Delaware Court, seeking a declaratory judgment that each
of the claims contained in the ‘516 Patent ar¢ invalid and that Amgen has not infringed any of the claims of
the ‘516 Patent based on activities related to! Amgen’s products, Enbrel® and Kineret®. We filed a motion to
dismiss this case in the Delaware Court on ]lune 14, 2006, which was, after a hearing held on September 11,
2006, denied in an order dated September 13, 2006.

On September 25, 2006, we filed a motion requesting the judge to certify the Delaware Court’s September
13, 2006 order denying our motion to dismiss for immediate appeal to the Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit, or CAFC. On October 5, 2006, we also filed a renewed motion to dismiss the Amgen
litigation for failure to name the university patentees as necessary and indispensable parties or, in the
alternative, to transfer this case to the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts, or the
Massachusetts Court.

At a hearing on these motions held on November 3, 2006, the Delaware Court granted our motion
certifying the Delaware Court’s September 13, 2006 order for immediate appeal and denied, as moot and
without prejudice, the Company’s renewed imotion to dismise or transfer the case. The Delaware Court
also stayed discovery in the case pending a ruling on the Company’s petition for permission to appeal the
Delaware Court’s September 13, 2006 order,| or the Petition, to be filed with the CAFC.

We filed our Petition with the CAFC on Noyember 16, 2006, which was denied by the CAFC on
December 29, 2006. As a result of the CAFC’S denial of our Petition, the temporary stay issued by the
Delaware Court expired. On February 20, 2007, a hearmg was held before the Delaware Court on our
renewed motion to dismiss the Amgen litigation, or in the alternative, to transfer this case to the
Massachusetts Court.

A scheduling order pursuant to Rule 16 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure was entered by the

Delaware Court on February 23, 2007. Purstant to that order, a claim construction hearing in this case is
scheduled for January 7, 2008, with trial scheduled to commence on May 12, 2008.
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Re-examination Proceedings in PTO

On April 4, 2005, Lilly filed a request in the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or PTO, to
reexamine the patentability of certain claims of the ‘516 Patent. An unrelated third party filed a similar
request in the PTO on December 2, 2005 to reexamine the patentability of certain claims of the "516 Patent.
These two requests have been granted and were merged by the PTO into a single reexamination
proceeding. We petitioned the PTO to vacate or stay the grant of these requests, but our petitions were
rejected. We (with the Plaintiffs) also filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court in the Eastern District of
Virginia requesting that the court enjoin the PTO from continuing with the reexamination proceedings,
along with a motion for summary judgment, both of which were denied by the Court in an order dated
October 3, 2006 granting the PTO’s motion to dismiss this action. We filed a motion to dismiss our appeal
in this case on November 8, 2006.

The PTO issued its first office action on August 2, 2006. In this first office action, 160 of the 203 claims of
the ‘516 Patent were rejected by the PTO, including the claims asserted by us in the Lilly litigation and
claims which may be asserted by us in the Amgen litigation. Our response to the first office action was
filed on Novemnber 9, 2006, and we await receipt of a final office action from the PTO. Accordingly, we
can provide no assurance that the PTO will not invalidate some of the claims of the *516 Patent in this
reexamination process, including the claims which were asserted against Lilly or might be asserted
against Amgen, or that we will ultimately prevail in either of these litigations.

The timing and ultimate outcome of the Lilly litigation (including the pending bench trial and any appeal
of the jury verdict and court’s ruling in the bench trial), the Amgen litigation {including pending motion
to dismiss, or in the alternative, to transfer the case to the Massachusetts Court) and the reexamination
proceedings cannot be determined at this time, and, as a result, no determination can be made with
respect to allowance of the claims of the ‘516 Patent, nor can any final determination be made with
respect to the validity or infringement of the claims of the ‘516 Patent in the Lilly litigation and the
Amgen litigation, nor can we predict whether the damages awarded by the jury in the'U.S. District Court
in the Lilly litigation will be upheld, eliminated or limited. Although we have prevailed at jury trial in
the Lilly litigation, the damages we were awarded by the jury may be eliminated or limited by an adverse
finding in the bench trial, on post-trial motions, upon appeal or in the event that the clalms of the ‘516
Patent are invalidated by the PTO.

ITEM 4: SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended December 31, 2006.
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PART 11

ITEM 5: MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “ARIA”. The following

table sets forth the high and low sales prices of our common stock as quoted on the NASDAQ Global
Market for the periods indicated.

2006: High Low
First Quarter $ 7.15 5 5.44
Second Quarter 7.78 399
, Third Quarter 491 3.27
Fourth Quarter 5.72 413
2005:
First Quarter $ 8.05 $ 542
Second Quarter 7.40 5.23
Third Quarter 8.75 645
Fourth Quarter ! 7.73 552

|
i
On March 9, 2007, the last reported sale price of our common stock was $4.46.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total stockholder return
on our commen stock since December 31, 2001 with the total cumulative return of the NASDAQ
Blotechnology Index and the Russell 2000@ Index, each of which ARIAD is a member. The Russell 2000
Index is a market capitalization-weighted index of stock price performance for the 2,000 smallest
companies in the Russell 3000® Index. Sin:ce the Russell 2000 Index is specifically designed to measure
the stock price trends of smaller companies, we believe it is a meaningful index against which to compare
our stock price performance,

The price of a share of common stock is based upon the closing price per share as quoted on the
NASDAQ Global Market on the last tradmg day of the year shown. The graph lines merely connect year-
end values and do not reflect fluctuations between those dates. The comparison assumes $100 was
invested on December 31, 2001 in our cominon stock and in each of the foregoing indices. We did not
declare or pay any dividends during the cc;mpanson period. The stock price performance as shown in
the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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~+—- ARIAD Phamaceuticals, Inc. —s— Nasdaq Biotechnology Index —a— Russell 2000 Index |
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 100.00 43.53 139.77 139.40 109.76 96.44
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index 100.00 54.67 79.68 84.57 86.96 87.85

Russell 2000 Index 100.00 78.42 114.00 133.38 137.81 161.24

Stockholders

As of February 28, 2007, the approximate number of holders of record of our common stock was 460, and
the approximate total number of beneficial holders of our common stock was 42,000.

Dividends
We have not declared or paid dividends on our common stock in the past and do not intend to declare or

pay such dividends in the foreseeable future. Our long-term debt agreement prohibits the payment of
cash dividends. S ' .

[

Unregistered Sales of Securities
Not applicable.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Not applicable.
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ITEM 6: SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data set forth below as'of December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and for each
of the years then ended have been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company, of which the financial statements :‘Iis of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are mcludéd elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and are
qualified by reference to such financial statements. The information set forth below should be read in
conjunction with “Management’s Discussion land Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and the audited consolidated financial statements, and the notes thereto, and other financial
information included herein. |

l
|
| Years Ended December 31,
In thousands, except share and per share data 2d06 2005 2004 2003 2002

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 8% 5 1,217 § 742 § 660 $ 67
Operating expenses:
Research and development 43312 45916 27,711 14,889 23,018
General and administrative 21,251 12,261 9,442 5,547 5,718
Operating expenses 64,563 58,177 37,153 20,436 28,736
Loss from operations (63,667) (56.960) {36,411} (19,776} (28,669)
Other income (expense):
Interest income 2,222 1,900 1,110 353 615
Interest expense (483} (422) (272) (303) (323)
Other income 534
Other income (expense), net ! 1,739 1,478 838 50 826
Net loss $ (61,928) § (55482) $ (35,573} $ (19,726) $ (27,843
Net loss per share : 5 \ 099 & 099 § (0.69) $ (0.51) $ (0.86)
Weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding 62,679,807 56,283,948 51,294,160 39,036,073 32,475,083
As of December 31, '
In thousands 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities $ i39,804 $ 81,516 § 75506 % 66,740 § 26,850
Working capital 125,859 65,971 68,874 61,587 21,126
Total assets 51,043 96,174 87,189 74,284 35,104
Long-term debt 3,815 5,735 7,655 6,575 5,437
Accumulated deficit (309 026} (247,098) (191,616) (156,043) (136,317)
Stockholders’ equity F;O ,262 71,378 67,440 59,326 21,852
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ITEM 72 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with "Selected Financial Data" and our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsetwhere in this report.

Overview

We are engaged in the discovery and development of breakthrough medicines to treat cancers by
regulating cell signaling with small molecules. We are developing a comprehensive approach to patients
with cancer that addresses the greatest medical need - aggressive and advanced-stage cancers for which
current treatments are inadequate. Our goal is to build a fully integrated oncology company focused on
novel, molecularly targeted therapies to treat solid tumors and hematologic cancers, as well as the spread
of primary tumors to distant sites.

Our lead cancer product candidate, AP23573, has been or is being studied in multiple clinical trials in
patients with various types of cancers, including sarcomas, hormone refractory prostate cancer,
endometrial cancer, brain cancer and leukemias and lymphomas. We expect to commence enrollment in
our initial Phase 3 clinical trial of AP23573 in patients with advanced bone and soft-tissue sarcomas in
2007. We discovered AP23573 in a research and development program conducted by us on behalf of
ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc., or AGTI, our 80%-owned subsidiary. In 2005, we entered into a
partnership with Medinol Ltd., a leading cardiovascular medical device company, to develop and
commercialize stents and other medical devices to deliver AP23573 in order to prevent reblockage of
injured vessels following stent-assisted angioplasty, a common non-surgical procedure for dilating or
opening narrowed arteries. Our second product candidate, AP24534, is in preclinical testing for the
treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia. We expect to file an Investigational New Drug application, or
IND, for this product candidate with the FDA in the second half of 2007,

In addition to our lead development programs, we have a focused drug discovery program centered on
small-molecule, molecularly targeted therapies and cell-signaling pathways implicated in cancer. We
also have an exclusive license to a family of patents, three in the U.S. and one in Europe, including a
pioneering U.S. patent covering methods of treating human disease by regulating NF-xB cell-signaling
activity. Additionally, we have developed a proprietary portfolio of cell-signaling regulation
technologies, our ARGENT technology, to control intracellular processes with small molecules, which
may be useful in the development of therapeutic vaccines and gene and cell therapy products and which
provide versatile tools for applications in cell biology, functional genomics and drug discovery research.

Since our inception in 1991, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to our research and
development programs, including those we conduct on behalf of AGTI. We receive no revenue from the
sale of pharmaceutical products, and most of our revenue to date was received in connection with a joint
venture we had with a major pharmaceutical company from 1997 to 1999. Except for the gain on the
sale of our fifty percent interest in that joint venture in December 1999, which resulted in net income for
fiscal 1999, we have not been profitable since inception. We expect to incur substantial and increasing
operating losses for the foreseeable future, primarily due to costs associated with our pharmaceutical
product development programs, including costs for clinical trials and product manufacturing, personnel
and our intellectual property. We expect that losses will fluctuate from quarter to quarter and that these
fluctuations may be substantial. As of December 31, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of $309.0
million and cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $39.8 million and working capital of
$25.9 million. In February 2007, we obtained a commitment for up to $50 million in equity financing
from Azimuth Opportunity Ltd. which is available for us to access, subject to certain terms and
conditions, over the 18-month term of the agreement.
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General

Our operating losses are primarily due to the costs associated with our pharmaceutical product
development programs, personnel and intellectual property protection and enforcement. As our product
development programs progress, we incur Significant costs for toxicology and pharmacology studies,
product development, manufacturing, clinical trials and regulatory support. These costs can vary
significantly from quarter to quarter depeniiing on the number of product candidates in development,
the stage of development of each product candidate, the number of patients enrolled in and complexity of
clinical trials and other factors. Costs associated with our intellectual property include legal fees and
other costs to prosecute, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property, which can fluctuate from
quarter to quarter depending on the status of patent issues being pursued.

Because we currently receive no revenue frcl)m the sale of pharmaceutical products and receive only
limited license revenue, we have relied primarily on the capital markets as our source of funding. In
August 2005 and October 2006, we raised a}laproximately $57.9 million and $14.3 million, respectively,
through underwritten public offerings of our common stock. We also have $50 million available under
an equity financing facility. We utilize longl-term debt to supplement our funding, particularly as a
means to fund investment in property and equipment and infrastructure needs. In addition, we plan to
seek funding from collaborations with pharmaceutical, biotechnology and/or medical device companies
for development and commercialization of bur product candidates and are currently in negotiations with
several companies for a partnership to clevellop and commercialize AP23573 in a broad range of oncology
indications. These collaborations may take the form of licensing arrangements, co-development or joint
venture arrangements or other structures. If funding from these various sources is unavailable on
reasonable terms, we may be required to reduce our operating expenses in order to conserve cash and
capital by delaying, scaling back or eliminating one or more of our product development programs.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our financial position and results of operations are affected by subjective and complex judgments,

particularly in the areas of the carrying value of intangible assets, deferred compensation benefits for
executives, and stock-based compensation.

At December 31, 2006, we reported $4.3 million of intangible assets consisting of capitalized costs related
primarily to purchased and issued patents, Ipatent applications and licenses, net of accumulated
amortization. These costs are being amorti:%ed over the estimated useful lives of the underlying patents
or licenses. Changes in the estimated usefu] lives or a decision to discontinue using the technologies
could result in material changes to our bala%me sheet and statements of operations. For example, during
2006 and 2005, we expensed $174,000 and $43,000, respectively, of unamortized costs related to certain
intangible assets which we are not actively pursuing any longer. We have concluded that the carrying
value of our remaining intangible assets is not currently impaired because such carrying value does not
exceed the future net cash flows expected to be generated by such intangible assets. If we were to
abandon the underlying technologies or terininate our efforts to pursue collaberations or license
agreements, we may be required to write off all or a portion of the carrying value of our intangible assets.
The net book value as of December 31, 2006: of intangible assets related to our NF-xB technology is
$448,000. If the patentability of our NF-kB patents is successfully challenged and such patents are
subsequently narrowed, invalidated or circimvented, we may be required to write off some or all of the
net book value related to such technology.

Under our deferred executive compensation plans, we are required to adjust our recorded obligations to
our employees on a periodic basis to reflect|fair value based on the quoted market value of certain
underlying mutual funds. Fluctuations in the quoted market value of such mutual funds can result in
uneven expense charges or credits to our statements of operations. If, for example, the quoted market
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prices of the underlying mutual funds were 10% higher at December 31, 2006, we would have recognized
an additional $37,000 in compensation expense in 2006.

In determining expense related to stock-based compensation, we utilize the Black-Scholes option
valuation model to estimate the fair value of stock options granted to employees, consultants and
directors. Application of the Black-Scholes option valuation model requires the use of factors such as the
market value and volatility of our common stock, a risk-free discount rate, and an estimate of the life of
the option contract. Fluctuations in these factors can result in adjustments to our statements of
operations. If, for example, the market value of our common stock, its volatility or expected life of stock
options granted during the three-month period ended December 31, 2006, were 10% higher or lower than
used in the valuation of such stock options, our stock-based compensation expense for the awards would
have increased or decreased by up to $26,000, $23,000, or $21,000, respectively.

Resuits of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
Revenue

We recognized license revenue of $896,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $1.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The decrease in license revenue was due primarily to the
impact of the expected timing of receipt of future milestone payments pursuant to our agreement with
Medinol, Ltd. in accordance with our revenue recognition policy.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses decreased by $2.6 million, or 6%, to $43.3 million in 2006, compared
to $45.9 million in 2005. The research and development process necessary to develop a pharmaceutical
product for commercialization is subject to extensive regulation by numerous governmental authorities in
the United States and other countries. This process typically takes years to complete and requires the
expenditure of substantial resources. Current requirements include:

» preclinical toxicology, pharmacology and metabolism studies, as well as in vivo efficacy studies in
relevant animal models of disease;

+ manufacturing of drug product for preclinical studies and clinical trials and ultimately for
commercial supply;

» submission of the results of preclinical studies and information regarding manufacturing and control
and proposed clinical protocol to the FDA in an Investigational New Drug application, or IND (or

similar filings with regulatory agencies outside the United States);

» conduct of clinical trials designed to provide data and information regarding the safety and efficacy
of the product candidate in humans; and

¢ submission of all the results of testing to the FDA in a New Drug Application, or NDA (or similar
filings with regulatory agencies outside the United States).

Upon approval by the appropriate regulatory authorities, including in some countries approval of
product pricing, we may commence commercial marketing and distribution of the product.
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We group our research and development, or R&D, expenses into two major categories: direct external
expenses and all other R&D expenses. Direct external expenses consist of costs of outside parties to
conduct laboratory studies, to develop manufacturing processes and manufacture product candidates, to
conduct and manage clinical trials and simillar costs related to our clinical and preclinical studies. These
costs are accumulated and tracked by product candidate. All other R&D expenses consist of costs to
compensate personnel, to purchase lab suplljlies and services, to lease, operate and maintain our facility,
equipment and overhead and similar costs (i)f our research and development efforts, These costs apply to
work on our clinical and preclinical candidaltes as well as our discovery research efforts. These costs are
not tracked by product candidate because the number of product candidates and projects in R&D may
vary from time to time and because we utilize internal resources across multiple projects at the same
time,

Direct external expenses are further categorized as costs for clinical programs and costs for preclinical
programs. Preclinical programs include prolduct candidates undergoing toxicology, pharmacology,
metabolism and efficacy studies and manuf?cturing process development required before testing in
humans can begin. Product candidates are |dts:signated as clinical programs once we have filed an IND
with the FDA, or a similar filing with regulatory agencies outside the United States, for the purpose of
commencing clinical trials in humans.

Our R&D expenses for 2006 as compared tol2005 were as follows:

Year ended December 31, Increase /
In thousands 2006 2005 (decrease)
Direct external expernses:
Clinical programs $ 15584 % 26,311 % (10,727)
Preclinical programs 843 1,142 (299)
All other R&D expenses 26,885 18,463 8,422

$ 43,312 §$ 45916 % {2,604)

AP23573, our lead product candidate which'is in Phase 2 clinical trials, was our only clinical program in
2006 and 2005. Direct external expenses for!AP23573 decreased by $10.7 million in 2006 as compared to
2005 due primarily to decreases in clinical trial costs ($5.4 million} and manufacturing-related costs ($4.1
million). The decrease in clinical trial costs is directly related to the decrease in the number of patients on
trial during the period driven by successful konclusion in 2005 and 2006 of enrollment in several clinical
trials. Manufacturing costs include product1 and process development work, as well as the costs to
produce drug product. Manufacturing costs for AP23573 decreased in 2006 as compared to 2005 due to
the completion in 2005 of certain product and process development studies and the timing of production
runs of AP23573, Through December 31, 2006, we have incurred a total of approximately $56.0 million in
direct external expenses for AP23573 from the date it became a clinical program. We expect that our
direct external costs for AP23573 will increabe in 2007 from 2006 as we commence entollment of patients
in a Phase 3 clinical trial for this product candidate.

Our preclinical programs are focused on the development of additional novel, small molecule,
molecularly targeted therapies including kinase inhibitors targeting cancer-related processes such as cell
survival, metastasis and angiogenesis. Our kinase inhibitor program includes our second product
candidate, AP24534. Direct external expenses on preclinical programs will increase or decrease over time
depending on the status and number of programs in this stage of development and the mix between
external and internal efforts applied to suchjprograms. Direct external expenses for preclinical programs
decreased by $299,000 in 2006 as compared to 2005 due primarily to the completion of certain
pharmacology studies conducted by outsidé contract laboratories in 2005. We expect that our direct
external expenses for preclinical programs will increase in 2007, as resources allow, as we conduct the
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necessary testing to support the filing of an IND for AP24534 and continue to move these programs
forward in development.

All other R&D expenses increased by $8.4 million in 2006 as compared to 2005 due to higher personnel
and related costs as a result of an increase in the number of personnel and salary adjustments ($4.2
million) and the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, regarding stock-based
compensation expense ($2.4 million), an increase in depreciation and amortization costs related to our
property and equipment ($1.3 million) and miscellaneous increases in costs related to our facility,
including maintenance and utility costs. We expect that all other R&D expenses will increase in 2007 in
support of the expanding activity in our clinical and preclinical programs, including the commencement
of enrollment in a Phase 3 clinical trial for our lead product candidate, AP23573.

The successful development of our product candidates is uncertain and subject to a number of risks. We
cannot be certain that any of our product candidates will prove to be safe and effective or will meet all of
the applicable regulatory requirements needed to receive and maintain marketing approval. Data from
preclinical studies and clinical trials are susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit or
prevent regulatory clearance. We, the FDA or other regulatory authorities may suspend clinical trials at
any time if we or they believe that the subjects participating in such trials are being exposed to
unacceptable risks or if such regulatory agencies find deficiencies in the conduct of the trials or other
problems with our products under development. Delays or rejections may be encountered based on
additional governmental regulation, legislation, administrative action or changes in FDA or other
regulatory policy during development or the review process. Other risks associated with our product
development programs are described in Part |, Item 1A: Risk Factors. Due to these uncertainties,
accurate and meaningful estimates of the ultimate cost to bring a product to market, the timing of
completion of any of our drug development programs and the period in which material net cash inflows
from any of our drug development programs will commence are unavailable.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by $9.0 million, or 73%, from $12.3 million in 2005 to $21.3
million in 2006. Professional fees increased by $3.9 million to $11.4 million in 2006 as compared to $7.4
million in 2005 due primarily to costs related to expansion of business and commercial development
initiatives and to our patent infringement litigation with Lilly and Amgen. Personnel and related costs
increased by $2.3 million due to an increase in the number of personnel and salary adjustments ($808,000)
and the impact of adoption of SFAS No. 123R {$1.6 million). We expect that our professional fees will
decrease significantly in 2007 reflecting the completion of the Lilly trial in 2006. We expect that all other
general and administrative expenses will increase slightly in 2007 as necessary to support our research
and development programs.

We expect that our operating expenses in total will increase in 2007 for the reasons described above.
Operating expenses may fluctuate from quarter to quarter. The actual amount of any increase in
operating expenses will depend on the progress of our product development programs, including
preclinical and clinical studies and product manufacturing, the impact of a potential collaboration with a
pharmaceutical company for the development and commercialization of AP23573, developments in our
patent infringement litigation and our ability to raise funding through equity offerings, the use of our $50
million equity financing facility, collaborations, licensing, joint ventures or other sources.

Interest Income / Expense
Interest income increased by 17% to $2.2 million in 2006 from $1.9 million in 2005, as a result of higher

interest yields from our cash equivalents and marketable securities, offset in part by a lower average
balance of funds invested in 2006.
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Interest expense increased by 14% to $483,000 in 2006 from $422,000 in 2005, as a result of higher interest

rates offset in part by lower average loan ba
Operating Results

We reported a loss from operations of $63.7

Flances in 2006.

million in 2006 compared to a loss from operations of $57.0

million in 2005, an increase in loss of $6.7 million, or 12%. Such increase was due primarily to the

increase in operating expenses noted above
at approximately the same level as in 2006 a

We expect that our loss from operations in 2007 will remain
s a result of the net effect of the above noted expected

increase in R&D expenses offset by an expected decrease in litigation cost and an expected increase in
revenue from existing license agreements. Losses may fluctuate depending on the extent to which, if at
all, we enter into collaborations or partnerships for one or more of our product candidates or licenses for

our technologies. The extent of operating lg

sses will also depend on our ability to raise funds from other

sources, such as the capital markets, or utilize our $50 million equity financing facility, which will

influence the amount we will spend on rese
product candidates.

We reported a net loss of $61.9 million in 20

hrch and development and the development timelines for our

06 compared to a net [oss of $55.5 million in 2005, an increase

in net loss of $6.4 million or 12%, and a net loss per share of $0.99 in both 2006 and 2005 due to a greater

weighted average number of shares of our ¢
Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

Revenue

ommon stock outstanding in 2006 from 2005.

We recognized license revenue of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to
$742,000 for the year ended December 31, 2[?04. The increase in license revenue was due primarily to a
license agreement we signed in January 2005 with Medinol to develop and commercialize stents and
other medical devices to deliver our lead product candidate, AP23573, to prevent reblockage of injured

vessels following stent-assisted angioplasty
Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased by $18.2 million, or 66%, from $27.7 million in 2004 to

$45.9 million in 2005.

Our R&D expenses for 2005 as compared to

2004 were as follows:

Year ended December 31, Increase /
In thousands 2005 2004 (decrease)
Direct external expenses:
Clinical programs 5 26311 § 11,542 $ 14,769
Preclinical programs 1,142 3,494 (2,352)
All other R&D expenses 18,463 12,675 5,788
g 45,916 $ 27,711 $ 18,205
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Direct external expenses for AP23573, our only clinical program in 2005 and 2004, increased by $14.8
million in 2005 as compared to 2004 due primarily to increases in clinical trial costs ($10.9 million) and
manufacturing-related costs ($3.5 million). In 2005, we continued to enroll patients in our existing clinical
trials of AP23573 and initiated new clinical trials in additional disease indications, including prostate and
endometrial cancer. The increase in clinical trial costs is directly related to the increased enrollment, the
costs of evaluating enrolled patients, the costs of managing the trials, laboratory costs and the costs of
compiling and analyzing results obtained in the trials. Manufacturing costs include product and process
development work, as well as the costs to produce drug product. Manufacturing costs for AP23573
increased in 2005 as compared to 2004 due to an increase in the quantities of drug product manufactured
for the clinical trials and investments in manufacturing process development.

Direct external expenses for preclinical programs decreased by $2.4 million in 2005 as compared to 2004
due primarily to the completion of certain pharmacology and toxicology studies conducted by outside
contract laboratories in 2004, as well as expansion of internal efforts on these programs in 2005.

All other R&D expenses increased by $5.8 million in 2005 as compared to 2004 due to higher personnel
and related costs ($2.6 million) as a result of an increase in the number of personnel and salary
adjustments, an increase in depreciation and amortization costs related to our property and equipment
($1.9 million) due to the impact of capital improvements and purchases in 2004 and 2005, an increase in
laboratory supplies and services ($506,000) related to ongoing development of our clinical and preclinical
programs and miscellaneous increases in costs related to our facility, including maintenance and utility
costs.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by $2.8 million, or 30%, from $9.4 million in 2004 to $12.3
million in 2005. Professional fees increased by $3.2 million to $7.4 million in 2005 as compared to $4.2
million in 2004 due primarily to costs related to expansion of business and commercial development
initiatives and to our patent infringement litigation with Lilly. This increase was offset in part by a
decrease in expenses related to a restricted stock grant to our chief executive officer in January 2004
which was fully amortized by December 31, 2004,

Interest Income / Expense
Interest income increased by 71% to $1.9 million in 2005 from $1.1 million in 2004, as a result of higher
interest yields from our cash equivalents and marketable securities, offset in part by a lower average

balance of funds invested in 2005.

Interest expense increased by 55% to $422,000 in 2005 from $272,000 in 2004, as a result of higher interest
rates and higher average loan balances in 2005.

Operating Results

We reported a loss from operations of $57.0 million in 2005 compared to a loss from operations of $36.4
million in 2004, an increase in loss of $20.5 million, or 56%.

We reported a net loss of $55.5 million in 2005 compared to a net loss of $35.6 million in 2004, an increase

in net loss of $19.9 million or 56%, and a net loss per share of $0.99 and $0.69 in 2005 and 2004,
respectively.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data

Summarized unaudited guarterly financial

data are as follows:

2006
In thousands, except per share amounts First Second Third Fourth
Total license revenue $ 29 3 229 % 229 % 209
Net loss (15,358) (16,996) (15,220) (14,354)
Net loss per share {0.25) (0.27) (0.25) (0.22)
2005
In thousands, except per share amounts First Second Third Fourth
Total license revenue $ 304 % 350 % 321 % 242
Net loss ' (12,346) (14,083} {14,594) (14,439)
Net loss per share {0.23} {0.27} (0.25) (0.23)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations and inves

tments primarily through sales of our common stock to

institutional investors and, to a lesser extent, through issuances of our commmon stock pursuant to our
stock option and employee stock purchase Iplans, supplemented by the issuance of long-term debt. We
sell securities and incur debt when the terrr:ls of such transactions are deemed favorable to us and as
necessary to fund our current and projected cash needs. We seek to balance the level of cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities on hand with our projected needs and to allow us to withstand
periods of uncertainty relative to the availability of funding on favorable terms.

Sources of Funds
During the years ended December 31, 2006

In thousands
Maturities of marketable securities,
net of purchases
Sales/issuances of common stock:
In common stock offerings
Pursuant to stock option and employee
stock purchase plans
Proceeds from long-term borrowings

2005 and 2004, our sources of funds were as follows:

2006 2005 2004
$ 49,642 $ 1,756 $ (41,669}
14,271 57,860 40,001
1,955 970 2,382
- - 3,000
$ 65,868 3 60,586 $ 3,714

We manage our marketable securities portfolio to provide cash for payment of our obligations. We
purchase marketable securities to enhance bur yield on invested funds and when such amounts are not
needed for near-term payment of obligations. We generally hold our marketable securities to maturity.
Upon maturity of such marketable securities, a portion may be retained as cash to provide for payment of

current obligations while the remainder wi

Il be reinvested in accordance with our investment policy. For

the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 arlld 2004, proceeds from maturities of marketable securities,

purchases of marketable securities and the
obligations or reinvested was as follows:

resulting net amount retained as cash for payment of
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In thousands 2006 2005 2004
Proceeds from maturities of marketable

securities § 92,561 $ 60,644 5 16,590
Purchases of marketable securities (42,919) (58,888) (58,259)
$ 49,642 $ 1,756 $  (41,669)

The amount of funding we raise through sales of our common stock depends on many factors, including,
but not limited to, the status and progress of our product development programs, projected cash needs,
availability of funding from other sources, our stock price and the status of the capital markets. In 2004,
2005 and 2006, we completed underwritten offerings of our common stock for net proceeds of $40.0
million, $57.9 million and $14.3 million, respectively. The following table details our common stock
offerings in 2004, 2005 and 2006:

Number of Price Per Net Cash
Shares Share Proceeds
In thousands
March, 2004 5,060,000 $8.50 $40,00
August, 2005 8,625,000 $7.20 $57,860
QOctober, 2006 3,112,945 $4.65 $14,271

We have filed shelf registration statements with the SEC, from time to time, to register shares of our
common stock that are available for sale, giving us the opportunity to raise funding when considered
appropriate. On December 19, 2003, we filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC for the issuance
of up to 7,000,000 shares of our common stock, which was declared effective on January 9, 2004. On
February 18, 2005, we filed another shelf registration statement with the SEC which was amended on
March 11, 2005 for the issuance of up to 9,500,000 shares of our common stock. This filing was declared
effective on March 14, 2005. As of December 31, 2006, after selling shares in each of the offerings
mentioned above, we have used all of the shares available for issuance under our then effective shelf
registrations.

On January 30, 2007, we filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC for the issuance of common
stock, preferred stock, various series of debt securities and/or warrants to purchase any of such
securities, either individually or in units, with a total value of up to $100 million, from time to time at
prices and on terms to be determined at the time of any such offerings. This filing was declared effective
on February 6, 2007. No securities have yet been issued under this registration statement.

On February 14, 2007, we entered into an agreement with Azimuth Opportunity Ltd. under which we
may offer and sell, and Azimuth is committed to purchase, subject to the terms set forth in the agreement,
the lesser of up to $50 million of our common stock, or the number of shares which is one less than
twenty percent of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock as of the effective date of the
agreement. These shares will be registered under the shelf registration statement we filed on January 30,
2007. At our sole discretion, we may initiate up to 24 draw downs during the approximately 18-month
term of the agreement by delivering notice to Azimuth, Each draw down notice will specify (a) the
aggregate dollar amount of our common stock to be sold to Azimuth during such draw down and (b) the
minimum threshold price at which we will sell such shares, which will not be less than $3.00 per share.
Azimuth will be required to purchase a pro rata portion of the shares for each trading day during a price
period of 10 consecutive trading days on which the daily volume weighted average price for our common
stock exceeds the minimum threshold price. The per share purchase price for these shares will equal the
daily volume weighted average price of our common stock on such date, less a discount ranging from
3.5% to 5.5%, depending on the minimum threshold price. In connection with any such draw down at
our sole discretion, we may also grant Azimuth the right, during the relevant draw down pricing period,
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to purchase additional shares of our comm‘lon stock by specifying in the draw down notice an optional
aggregate dollar amount and a minimum threshold price for such optional shares. Azimuth is not
obligated to purchase the optional amount] The per share purchase price for these optional shares will
equal the greater of the daily volume weighted average price of our common stock on the day Azimuth
notifies us of its election to exercise such right or the minimum threshold price for such optional shares,
less a discount ranging from 3.5% to 5.5%. |Upon each sale of common stock to Azimuth, we will pay to
Reedland Capital Partners, an Institutional|Division of Financial West Group, a placement fee equal to
1.0% of the aggregate dollar amount received by us from such sale.

In March 2003, we entered into a term loanlagreement with a bank for $7.5 million, the proceeds of which
were used to repay existing long-term debt, to pay off our obligations under certain operating leases for
equipment and for general working capltal purposes. The loan is secured by all of our assets excluding
intellectual property, which we have agree not to pledge to any other party without the consent of the
bank. The loan carries interest at the bank’ ? prime rate or LIBOR plus 2%. We amended the terms of the
loan on December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2004, receiving another $2.0 million and $3.0 million,
respectively, in loan proceeds. The amendlzd loan is payable in monthly installments of $160,000 plus
interest beginning in January 2005 with a fmal payment of $3.5 million due in March 2008. The terms of
the loan require us to maintain at least $13. 0 million in unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and
investments. The agreement also contains certain covenants that restrict additional indebtedness,
additional liens, and sales of assets, and dnf'ldends distributions or repurchases of common stock. The
balance outstanding as of December 31, 2006 was $5,735,000.

Uses of Funds

The primary uses of our cash are to fund our operations and working capital requirements and, to a
lesser degree, to repay our long-term debt, 'to invest in intellectual property and to invest in our property
and equipment as needed for our business. . Our uses of cash during the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004 were as follows:

In thousands 2006 2005 2004

Net cash used in operating activities $ 56,038 5 44,556 $ 31,559
Repayment of long-term borrowings 1,920 1,920 1,800
Investment in intangible assets 568 675 730
Investment in property and equipment 1,067 6,538 2,743

5 59,593 8§ 53,689 § 36,832

The net cash used in operating activities is comprised of our net losses, adjusted for non-cash expenses
and working capital requirements. As noted above, our net loss increased in 2005 and 2006 due primarily
to the increased costs of advancing our product candidates through preclinical and clinical phases of
development, expansion of business and cgmmercial development initiatives and patent litigation. Also
as noted above, we expect that our net loss'm 2007 will remain at approximately the same level as in 2006.
However, we expect that our net cash used in operating activities will decrease in 2007 due to the impact
of cash to be received from existing license lagreements that will be deferred as revenue to future years
and increases in depreciation and amortizaltion and changes in working capital. We expect that our
investment in intangible assets, consisting of our intellectual property, will increase in 2007 in support of
our product development activities. Qur investment in property and equipment increased in 2005
primarily due to a renovation project to create more useable space in our facility and an upgrade to our
information technology infrastructure, and decreased in 2006 due to substantive completion of such
projects in 2005. We expect that our 1nvestment in property and equipment will increase in 2007 as we
continue to advance our research and development activities.

40




Contractual Obligations

We have substantial fixed contractual obligations under various research and licensing agreements,
consulting and employment agreements, lease agreements and long-term debt instruments. These
contractual obligations were comprised of the following as of December 31, 2006:

In thousands Payments Due By Period
2008 2011
through through After
Total In 2007 2010 2012 2012
Long-term debt $ 5735 $ 1,920 $ 3815 % - 8 -
Operating leases 11,044 1,331 6,358 3,355 -
Employment agreements 7,327 3,899 3,428 - -
Other long-term obligations 4,435 749 3,001 290 395

$ 28,541 $ 7899 $ 16,602 $ 3645 $ 395

Long-term debt consists of scheduled principal payments on such debt. Interest on our long-term debt is
based on variable interest rates. Assuming a constant interest rate of 7.38%, our average interest rate on
our debt at December 31, 2006, over the remaining term of the debt, our interest expense would total
approximately $353,000 in 2007 and $67,000 in 2008.

Other long-term obligations are comprised primarily of obligations under our deferred executive
compensation plans and license agreements. The license agreements generally provide for payment by
us of annual license fees, milestone payments and royalties upon successful commercialization of
products. All license agreements are cancelable by us. The above table reflects remaining license fees for
the lives of the agreements but excludes milestone and royalty payments, as such amounts are not
probable or estimable at this time.

Liquidity

At December 31, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling $39.8 million and
working capital of $25.9 million, compared to cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling
$81.5 million and working capital of $66.0 million at December 31, 2005,

We will require substantial additional funding for our research and development programs, including
preclinical development and clinical trials, for operating expenses including intellectual property
protection and enforcement, for the pursuit of regulatory approvals, and for establishing manufacturing,
marketing and sales capabilities. In order to fund our needs, we may (1) sell securities of the Company
through public or private offerings as market conditions permit or to Azimuth under the $50 million
equity financing commitment, (2) enter into partnerships for our product candidates, and/or (3) license
our cell-signaling technologies, including our ARGENT and NF-xB intellectual property.

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities on hand at December 31, 2006
should be sufficient to satisfy our capital and operating requirements approximately through the third
quarter of 2007. If we fully utilize our $50 million equity financing facility, we could extend the
sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities to at least mid-2008. However, there
are numerous factors that are likely to affect our spending levels, including the timing of the start of, and
the rate of patient enrollment in, our initial Phase 3 clinical trial for AP23573, the timing of product and
process development work for AP23573, the manufacture of drug product for clinical trials and potential
product launch, if approved, developments in our ongoing clinical trials, the timing and terms of a
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partnership, if any, to develop and commercialize AP23573, the status of our in-house efforts to prepare
for the potential launch of AP23573, the progress of our preclinical programs, the potential acquisition of
or other strategic transaction regarding the minority stockholders’ interests in AGTI, and developments
in our NF-«B litigation, among other factors. These variables could result in earlier or later depletion of
our current funds if we are to continue operations in accordance with our current plans and achieve our
intended timelines for development. In any event, we expect to need additional funding in order to
pursue our business plan, which we will selek to raise through the sale of additional securities, including
the possible sale of common stock to Azimuth under the $50 million equity financing commitment,
collaborative partnerships, and possible addlitional credit arrangements. There can be no assurance,
however, that adequate resources will be available when needed or on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”),
Accounting for Uncertainties in Income Taxes,jwhich defines the threshold for recognizing the benefits of
tax-return positions in the financial statemelnts as “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained by the taxing
authorities. FIN 48 also requires explicit disclosure requirements about a company’s uncertainties related
to their income tax position, including a detailed roll-forward of tax benefits taken that do not quality for
financial statement recognition. This Interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
31, 2006. We expect that the adoption of FIN 48 will not have a material impact on our financial
statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (“SFAS No. 157"), Fair Value Measurements, which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies undelr other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair
value measurements, and is effective for fmanmal statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are assessing the impact of SFAS
No. 157 on our financial statements.

ITEM 7A: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We invest our available funds in accordance with our investment policy to preserve principal, maintain
proper liquidity to meet operating needs and maximize yields. Our investment policy specifies credit
quality standards for our investments and limits the amount of credit exposure to any single issue, issuer
or type of investment.

We invest cash balances in excess of operating requirements first in short-term, highly liquid securities,
with original maturities of 90 days or less, and money market accounts. Depending on our level of
available funds and our expected cash requirements, we may invest a portion of our funds in marketable
securities, consisting generally of corporate: debt and U.S. government and agency securities. Maturities
of our marketable securities are generally limited to periods necessary to fund our liquidity needs and
may not in any case exceed three years. Thlese securities are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-
sale securities are recorded on the balance sheet at fair market value with unrealized gains or losses
reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity (accumulated other comprehensive income or
loss). Realized gains and losses on marketable security transactions, if any, are reported on the specific-
identification method. Interest income is recogmzed when earned. A decline in the market value of any
available-for-sale security below cost that i i$ deemed other than temporary results in a charge to earnings
and establishes a new cost basis for the sec1|1r1l'y

Qur investments are sensitive to interest ralte risk. We believe, however, that the effect, if any, of
reasonably possible near-term changes in interest rates on our financial position, results of operations and
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cash flows generally would not be material due to the current short-term nature of these investments. In
particular, at December 31, 2006, because our available funds were invested solely in cash equivalents
and short-term marketable securities with maturities of 12 months or less, our risk of loss due to changes
in interest rates is not material.

We have an executive compensation plan which provides participants with deferred compensation based
on the value of certain designated mutual funds. The fair value of our obligations under this program is
reflected as a liability on our balance sheet. In the event of a hypothetical 10% increase in the fair market
value of the underlying mutual funds as of December 31, 2006, we would have incurred approximately
$37,000 of additional compensation expense.

At December 31, 2006, we had $5.7 million outstanding under a bank term note which bears interest at
prime or, alternatively, LIBOR +2%. This note is sensitive to changes in interest rates. In the event of a
hypothetical 10% increase in the interest rate on which the loan is based (73.8 basis points at December 31,
2006), we would incur approximately $35,000 of additional interest expense in 2007.

Certain Factors That May Affect Future Results of Operations

The SEC encourages companies to disclose forward-looking information so that investors can better
understand a company's future prospects and make informed investment decisions. This Annual Report
on Form 10-K contains such "forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements may be made directly in this Annual Report, and they
may also be made a part of this Annual Report by reference to other documents filed with the SEC, which
is known as "incorporation by reference."

Such statements in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance are
identified by use of words such as "may,” "anticipate," "estimate,” "expect," "project,” "intend," "plan,"
"believe," and other words and terms of similar meaning. Such statements are based on management's
expectations and are subject to certain factors, risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results,
outcome of events, timing and performance to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. These risks include, but are not limited to, risks and uncertainties regarding
our ability to accurately estimate the timing and actual R&D expenses and other costs associated with the
preclinical and clinical development and manufacture of our product candidates, the adequacy of our
capital resources and the availability of additional funding, risks and uncertainties regarding our ability
to manufacture or have manufactured our product candidates on a commercial scale or to supply our
product candidates to partners, risks and uncertainties regarding our ability to successfully recruit
centers, enroll patients and conduct clinical studies of product candidates, risks and uncertainties that
clinical trial results at any phase of development may be adverse or may not be predictive of future
results or lead to regulatory approval of any of our or any partner’s product candidates, risks and
uncertainties related to the potential acquisition of or other strategic transaction regarding the minority
stockholders’ interests in AGTI, risks and uncertainties of third-party intellectual property claims relating
to our and any partner’s product candidates, and risks and uncertainties relating to regulatory oversight,
the timing, scope, cost and outcome of legal and patent office proceedings concerning our NF-kB patent
portfolio, future capital needs, key employees, dependence on collaborators and manufacturers, markets,
economic conditions, products, services, prices, reimbursement rates, competition and other factors.
Please also see the discussion under Part I, Item 1A: Risk Factors appearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report for more details regarding these and other risks.

In light of these assumptions, risks and uncertainties, the results and events discussed in the forward-
looking statements contained in this Annual Report or in any document incorporated by reference might
not occur. Stockholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements,
which speak only as of the date of this report or the date of the document incorporated by reference in this
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Annual Report. We are not under any obligation, and we expressly disclaim any obligation, to update or
alter any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
All subsequent forward-looking statements/attributable to us or to any person acting on our behalf are
expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section.




ITEM 8: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, In¢c. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Decembes:
31, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R,
Share-Based Payment, effective January 1, 2006.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 9,
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 9, 2007
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ARIAD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
In thousands, except share and per share data 2006 2005
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents _ $ 31,728 % 25,453
Marketable securities : 8,076 56,063
Inventory and other current assets ' 1,839 2,225
Total current assets 41,643 83,741
Property and equipment:
Leasehold improvements 18,126 17,840
Equipment and furniture 10,677 9,908
Total 28,803 27,748
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (23,721) (20,022)
Property and equipment, net ’ 5,082 7,726
Intangible and other assets, net 4,318 4,707
Total assets ' $ 51,043 % 96,174
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities: '
Accounts payable $ 4003 § 3,961
Current portion of long-term debt ' 1,920 1,920
Accrued compensation and benefits 428 497
Accrued product development expenses 6,612 8,444
Other accrued expenses ‘ 1841 2,097
Current portion of deferred executive compensation 528
- Current portion of deferred revenue 452 851
Total current Habilities 15,784 17,770
Long-term debt 3,815 5,735
Deferred revenue 2 24
Deferred executive compensation 1,180 1,267
Commitments, contingent liabilities and minority interest (Notes 1, 6, 7, 11)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, authorized, 10,000,000 shares, none issued and outstanding
Common stock, $.001 par value, authorized,| 145,000,000 shares, issued and
outstanding, 65,391,347 shares in 2006, £1,698,129 shares in 2003 65 62
Additional paid-in capital 339,220 318,684
Deferred compensation (246)
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss) 3 (24)
Accumulated deficit (309,026) (247,098)
Total stockholders’ equity 30,262 71,378
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 51,043 % 96,174
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ARIAD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In thousands, except share and per share data

License revenue
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense

Other income, net
Net loss
Net loss per share

Weighted average number of shares of common stock
cutstanding

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

896 $ 1,217 $ 72
43,312 45,916 27,711
21,251 12,261 9,412
64,563 58,177 37,153
(63,667) {56,960) (36,411)
2,222 1,900 1,110
(483) {422) {272)
1,739 1,478 838

(61,928 5 (55482) % (35,573)

099 % 099 $ (0.59)

62,679,807 56,283,948 51,294,160
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ARIAD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Accretion of discount on marketable securities
Stock-based compensation
Deferred executive compensation expense
Increase (decrease) from:
Inventory and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Accrued product development expenses
Other accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Deferred executive compensation paid
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Investment in property and equipment

Investment in intangible assets

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt borrowings

Repayment of long-term debt borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs

Proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuant to
stock option and purchase plans
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
$  (61,928) $ (55,482} $ (35,573)
4,634 2,803 911
(1,628) (833}
4,559 554 1,366
888 374 800
386 (260) (1,431)
34 6 15
42 1,832 1,376
(69) 187 (156)
(1,832) 5,510 2,054
(256) 1,506 (454)
(a21) (242) (216)
(447) (511) (251
(56,038) {44,556) (31,559)
(42,919) (58,888) (58.259)
92,561 60,644 16,590
(1,067) (6,538) (2,743)
(568) (675) (730)
48,007 {5,457) (45,142}
3,000
(1,920 (1,920 (1,8004
14,271 57,860 40,001
1,955 970 2,382
14,306 56,910 43,583
6,275 6,897 (33,118)
25,453 18,556 51,674
$ 31,728 $ 25,453 3 18,556
$ 517 % 333 $ 273




ARIAD PHARMA(ICEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business and Summary of |Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business

The Company is engaged in the discovery and development of breakthrough medicines to treat cancers
by regulating cell signaling with small mollecules. The Company is developing a comprehensive
approach to patients with cancer that addresses the greatest medical need - aggressive and advanced-
stage cancers for which current treatments are inadequate. The Company’s goal is to build a fully
integrated oncology company focused onrnovel molecularly targeted therapies to treat solid tumors and
hematologic cancers, as well as the spread of primary tumors to distant sites. The Company’s lead cancer
product candidate, AP23573, has been or ls being studied in multiple clinical trials in patients with
various types of cancers, including sarcomas, hormone refractory prostate cancer, endometrial cancer,
brain cancer and leukemias and lymphomas. Medinol Ltd. is also developing stents to deliver AP23573
to prevent reblockage at sites of vascular injury following stent-assisted angioplasty. The Company's
second product candidate, AP24534, is in preclinical testing for the treatment of chronic myeloid
leukemia.

The Company has a focused drug discovery program centered on small molecule, molecularly targeted
therapies and cell-signaling pathways implicated in cancer. The Company also has an exclusive license
to pioneering technology and patents related to certain NF-kB cell-signaling activity, which may be
useful in treating certain diseases. Addlhonally, the Company has developed a proprietary portfolio of
celi-signaling regulation technologies, the Company’s ARGENT technology, to control intracellular
processes with small molecules, which may be useful in the development of therapeutic vaccines and
gene and cell therapy products, and which provide versatile tools for use in cell biology, functional
genomics and drug discovery research.

At December 31, 2006, the Company has cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling $39.8
million. The Company believes that the combmatlon of its cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities
and the $50 million available under its agreement with Azimuth Opportunity Ltd. (Note 13) provide
sufficient resources for the Company to fund its anticipated spending through at least the middle of
2008.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, ARIAD Corporatlon bind ARIAD Pharma S.A., and its 80%-owned subsidiary
ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. ("AGTI”) (Note 7). The Company’s research and development relating to
product candidates based on its ARGENT cell-signaling regulation technology and its small molecule
mTOR inhibitors derived from the ARGENT programs are conducted on behalf of AGTL. Intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. AGTI is a research and development
company and its accumulated deficit exceeds its total paid-in capital at December 31, 2006. Because the
Company funds all losses of AGTI and the minority interest holders of AGTI common stock are not
obligated to fund such losses, no minority interest income/ gain or asset is recorded in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair
value because of their short-term nature. |Marketable securities are recorded in the consclidated financial
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statements at aggregate fair value (Note 2). The carrying amount of the Company’s bank term note of
$5.7 million at December 31, 2006 approximates fair value due to its variable interest rate {Note 4). The
Company’s obligation under its executive compensation plans (Note 5) is based in part on the current fair
market value of underlying securities, which is therefore stated at its estimated current fair value.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts and disclosure of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments, which consist principally of United
States government and agency securities, purchased with remaining maturities of 90 days or less, and
money market accounts.

Marketable Securities

The Company has classified its marketable securities as “available-for-sale” and, accordingly, carries such
securities at aggregate fair value. The difference between fair value and original cost is reflected as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Fair value has been determined based on
quoted market prices, in a dealer market, at the closing bid for each individual security held.

Inventory

Inventory consists of bulk pharmaceutical material to be used for multiple development programs.
Inventories are carried at cost using the first-in, first-out method and are charged to research and
development expense when consumed. The carrying value of inventory amounted to $1.2 million and
$1.7 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets (3 to 10 years). Leasehold improvements are amortized over
the shorter of their useful lives or lease term using the straight-line method (4 to 10 years).

Intangible and Other Assets

Intangible and other assets consist primarily of capitalized patent and license costs and deposits. The cost
of purchased patents and patent applications, costs incurred in filing patents and certain license fees are
capitalized. Capitalized costs related to issued patents are amortized over a period not to exceed
seventeen years or the remaining life of the patent, whichever is shorter, using the straight-line method.
Capitalized license fees are amortized over the periods to which they relate. In addition, capitalized costs
are expensed when it becomes determinable that such patent applications or technology will not be
pursued.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets, including the above-mentioned intangible assets, for
impairment when events or changes in citcumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverabijity of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison
of the carrying amount of an asset to futurle net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC")
Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, SAB No. 104,
Revenue Recognition, and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”), No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables. Revenue is principally comprised of license fees received under
agreements that provide the licensee with! access to and/or the right to review and evaluate certain
technology owned or controlled by the Company. Upfront and annual license fees are recorded as
deferred revenue upon receipt and recogr}ized as revenue on a systematic basis over the period of time
they are earned in accordance with the terms of the agreements. Such agreements may also include
milestone and royalty payments. Such payments are recognized as revenue when earned in accordance
with the terms of the related agreements. |

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes iln accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(“SFAS") No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, which requires an asset and liability approach to financial
accounting and reporting for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed
annually for differences between the finalécial statement basis and the income tax basis of assets and
liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future. Such deferred income tax
computations are based on enacted tax law:vs and rates applicable to the years in which the differences are
expected to affect taxable income. A valuation allowance is established when it is necessary to reduce
deferred income tax assets to the expected realized amounts (Note 10).

Segment Reporting

The Company organizes itself into one segment reporting to the chief executive officer. No revenues
from product sales or services occurred in 2006, 2005 or 2004.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123R, Share-
Based Payment, which revised SFAS No. 123 and superseded Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SI?AS No. 123R requires that companies recognize compensation
expense associated with grants of stock options and other equity instruments to employees in the
financial statemnents, effective as of the first annual reporting period that begins after june 15, 2005. This
pronouncement applies to all grants after the effective date and to the unvested portion of stock options
outstanding as of the effective date.

The Company awards stock options and other equity-based instruments to its employees, directors and

consultants and provides employees the right to purchase common stock {collectively “share-based
payments”), pursuant to stockholder approved plans. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted
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SFAS No. 123R, using the Statement’s modified prospective application method. Accordingly, prior
period results have not been restated.

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, the Company recognizes compensation expense in its financial
statements associated with awards of stock options and other equity-based instruments to employees,
directors and consultants. Compensation cost is measured based on the fair value of the instrument on
the grant date and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which generally
equals the vesting period. All of the Company’s stock-based compensation is based on grants of equity
instruments and no liability awards have been granted.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company used the intrinsic value method to measure
compensation expense associated with grants of stock options to employees. Since options are granted to
employees with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the
date of grant, there was no expense included in the statement of operations for the years ended December
31, 2005 and 2004 related to employee stock options.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share are computed using the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during each year. Diluted earnings per common share reflect the effect of the Company’s
outstanding options using the treasury stock method, except where such items would be anti-dilutive. In
years in which a net loss is reported, basic and diluted per share amounts are the same. In 2006, 2005 and
2004, options amounting to 6,571,341, 6,826,644 and 5,889,532 shares of common stock, respectively, wera
not included in the computation of dilutive earnings per share, because the effect would be anti-dilutive.
There were no warrants or convertible securities outstanding at December 31, 2006, 2005 or 2004.

Executive Compensation Plan

The Company maintains a deferred executive compensation plan, established in 1997 {the “1997 Plan”),
which provides participants, in lieu of a cash bonus, an option to purchase certain designated mutual
funds at a discount. EITF No. 02-8, Accounting for Options Granted to Employees in Unrestricted, Publicly
Traded Shares of an Unrelated Party, and SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities require that the Company account for such benefits as derivatives. Under these
pronouncements, the Company records the fair value of the awards as an asset and a liability and
amortizes the asset to expense over the vesting period of the awards. Subsequent changes in the fair
value of the liability are included in the determination of net income or loss.

Effective October 1, 2005, the Company adopted a new deferred executive compensation plan (the “2005
Plan”) that defers the payment of annual bonus awards to future periods as specified in each award. The
Company accrues a liability based on the fair value of the awards ratably over the vesting period. The
recorded balances of such awards are increased or decreased based on the actual total return and quoted
market prices of specified mutual funds.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainties in Income
Taxes, which defines the threshold for recognizing the benefits of tax-return positions in the financial
statements as “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained by the taxing authorities. FIN 48 also requires
explicit disclosure requirements about a company’s uncertainties related to their income tax position,
including a detailed roll-forward of tax benefits taken that do not quality for financial statement
recognition. This Interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2006. The
Company expects that the adoption of FIN 48 will not have a material impact on its financial statements.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (“SFAS No. 157”), Fair Value Measurements, which
defines fair value, establishes a frameworklfor measuring fair value in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the Umted States and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies undér other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair
value measurements, and is effective for fu%'lanmal statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 5, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is assessing the impact of
SFAS No. 157 on its financial staternents.

2. Marketable Securities

The Company has classified its marketable securities as available-for-sale and, accordingly, carries such
securities at aggregate fair value. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, all of the Company’s marketable
securities consisted of United States Treasury or agency securities.

At December 31, 2006, the aggregate fair v%lue and amortized cost of the Company’s marketable
securities were $8,076,000 and $8,073,000, respectively. Gross unrealized gains and losses were $3,000
and $0, respectively, at December 31, 2006

At December 31, 2005, the aggregate fair value and amortized cost of the Company’s marketable
securities were $56,063,000 and $56,087, 000 respectively. Gross unrealized gains and losses were $9,000
and $33,000, respectively, at December 31, P005. The gross unrealized losses of $33,000 pertain to
fourteen marketable securities with an agglregate fair value of $35.6 million, all of which have beenina
continuous loss position for less than twelve months.

The Company’s marketable securities withI unrealized losses consist of U.S. Treasury and agency
securities that are guaranteed by the U.S. government or an agency thereof. The unrealized losses were
caused by increased interest rates. Because the Company has the intent and ability to hold the securities
to maturity which should result in a recovery of the fair value, the Company does not consider the
investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired.

Realized gains and losses on investment security transactions are reported on the specific-identification
method. There were no realized gains anch losses on sales of marketable securities in 2006, 2005 and 2004.
Changes in market values resulted in a decrease (increase) in net unrealized losses of $27,000, $37,000 and
($62,000) in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respechve]y
3. Intangible and Other Assets, Net

Intangible and other assets, net, were comprised of the following at December 31:

In thousands 2006 2005
Capitalized patent and license costs $ 9828 $ 9,433
Less accumulated amortization {5,534) (4,784)
4,294 4,649
Other 24 58

$ 4318 $§ 4,707

Amortization expense for intangible assets amounted to $750,000, $717,000 and $697,000 in 2006, 2005 and
2004 respectively. Inaddition, the Compall'ly expensed unamortized patent and license costs of $174,000,
$43,000 and $87,000 in 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively, related to patent applications or technology no
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longer being pursued. The estimated future amortization expenses for capitalized.patent and license
costs are $681,000 for 2007, $373,000 for 2008, $336,000 for 2009, $267,000 for 2010 eirnd $267,000 for 2011.

1

4. Long-Term Debt N

Long-term debt was comprised of the following at December 31:

In thousands 2006 -' 2005
Bank term note at prime rate or LIBOR +2% (average interest rate .
of 7.38% at December 31, 2006) $ 5735  $ 7,655
Less current portion {1,920} (1,920)
$ 3,815 5 5,735

In March 2003, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with a bank for $7.5 million, the
proceeds of which were used to pay off then outstanding loans as well as remaining obligations under
certain operating leases. Such repayments totaled $6.9 million in the aggregate. The loan is secured by a
lien on all assets of the Company excluding intellectual property, which the Company has agreed not to
piedge to any other party. This term loan agreement was amended on December 31, 2003 and on
December 31, 2004 pursuant to which the Company received another $5.0 million in loan proceeds in the
aggregate. The loan, as amended, is repayable in monthly installments of $160,000 plus interest with a
balloon payment of $3.5 million in March 2008. The loan, as amended, requires the Company to maintain
a minimum of $13.0 million in unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and investments. The agreement also
contains certain covenants that restrict additional indebtedness, additional liens and sales of assets, and
dividends, distributions or repurchases of common stock.

The annual aggregate future principal payments of the above loan, as amended, are $1.9 million in 2007,
and $3.8 million in 2008.

5. Executive Compensation Plans

Under the Company’s deferred executive compensation plan established in 1997 (the “1997 Plan”), the
Company recorded an asset and a liability on the date of grant equal to the fair value of awards granted
under the 1997 Plan. The fair value of awards made in 2004 under the 1997 Plan was $1.0 million, The
asset is amortized to expense over the vesting period and the liability is revalued and adjusted to fair
value at each reporting period. Under the Company’s 2005 Plan, the Company accrues a liability for the
fair value of awards ratably over the vesting period. The value of awards made in 2005 under the 2005
Plan was $962,000. There were no awards made in 2006.

Pursuant to an amendment to the 1997 Plan in 2005, the unvested balances as of December 31, 2004 of
awards under the 1997 Plan were cancelled. The value of such unvested balances was transferred to the
2005 Plan and are accounted for accordingly. The recorded asset and liability balances attributable to the
1997 Plan were adjusted to reflect the cancellation and transfer of unvested awards. The net expense for
these plans was $888,000, $374,000 and $800,000 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The estimated
future expenses for awards made through December 31, 2006 are $670,000, $386,000, and $185,000 for
2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

6. Leases, Licensed Technology and Other Commitments
Facility Lease
The Company conducts its operations in a 100,000 square foot office and laboratory facility under a non-

cancelable operating lease. The lease was amended in 2006 and provides that the current lease term
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extends to July 2012 with two consecutive five-year renewal options. The Company subleases
approximately 31,000 square feet of space|to one tenant and such sublease expires in July 2007. Rent
expense, net of sublease income of $1.3 miIIlion, $1.4 million and $1.4 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004
respectively, amounted to $636,000, $620,000 and $509,000 respectively. Future minimum annual rental
payments through July 2012 are $1.3 millibn in 2007, $2.1 million for 2008 through 2011, and $1.2 million
in 2012, which are net of expected subleasle income of $639,000 in 2007.

Licensed Technology

The Company and AGTI have entered into agreements with several universities under the terms of
which the Company and/or AGTI have received exclusive licenses to technology and inteilectual
property. The agreements, which are generally cancelable by the Company and/or AGTI, provide for the
payment of license fees and/or minimum|payments, which are generally creditable against future
royalties. Fees paid by the Company on biehalf of the Company and/or AGTI amounted to $145,000,
$145,000 and $238,000 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and are expected to amount to approximately
$145,000 annually in 2007 through 2009, $290,000 in 2010, and $145,000 thereafter. In addition, the
agreements provide for payments upon the achievement of certain milestones in product development.
The agreements also require the Company to fund certain costs associated with the filing and prosecution
of patent applications.

Other Commitments

The Company has entered into various employment agreements with 13 senior officers. The agreements
provide for aggregate annual base salaried of $7.3 million and remaining terms of employment of up to
three years.

7. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock
The Company has authorized 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock which the Board of Directors is

empowered to designate and issue in different series. At December 31, 2006, the Board of Directors had
designated 500,000 shares as series A preflerred stock and 9,500,000 shares remained undesignated.

Common Stock

On December 19, 2003, the Company filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC for the issuance of
up to 7,000,000 shares of its common stock. This filing was declared effective on January 9, 2004. On
March 29, 2004, the Company sold 5,060, 000 of these registered shares in an underwritten public offering
at a price of $8.50 per share for net procee:ds of $40.0 million. On October 25, 2006, the Company sold the
remaining 1,940,000 shares available on tl}is shelf as part of an underwritten offering that sold an
aggregate of 3,112,945 shares of its common stock at a price of $4.65 per share for net proceeds of
approximately $14.3 million. As of Decemhber 31, 2006, there were no shares available for issuance under
this shelf registration.

On February 18, 2005, the Company filed !a shelf registration statement with the SEC, which was
amended on March 11, 2005, registering 9,500,000 shares of common stock. The filing was declared
effective on March 14, 2005. On August 10 2005 and August 18, 2005, the Company sold an aggregate of
8,625,000 of these registered shares in an underwrltten public offering at a price of $7.20 per share for net
proceeds of approximately $57.9 million. {On October 25, 2006, the Company sold the remaining 875,000
shares available on this shelf as part of the aforementioned underwritten offering that sold an aggregate
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of 3,112,945 shares of its common stock at a price of $4.65 per share. At December 31, 2006, there were no
shares available for issuance under this shelf registration, .

Stockholder Rights Plan

The Board of Directors of the Company adopted a Rights Agreement, dated as of June 8, 2000 (the 2000
Rights Agreement”), between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as Rights Agent,
and approved the declaration of a dividend distribution of one Preferred Share Purchase Right (a
“Right”) on each outstanding share of its Common Stock. In general, the Rights become exercisable if a
person or group hereafter acquires 15% or more of the Common Stock of the Company or announces a
tender offer for 15% or more of the Common Stock. The Board of Directors will, in general, be entitled to
redeem the Rights at one cent per Right at any time before any such person hereafter acquires 15% or
more of the outstanding Common Stock. The plan is designed to protect the Company’s stockholders in
the event that an attempt is made to acquire the Company without an offer of fair value.

If a person hereafter acquires 15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock of the Company (the
“Acquiring Person”), each Right will entitle its holder to purchase, for an initial exercise price of $65, a
number of shares of Common Stock having a market value at that time of twice the Right's exercise price.
Rights held by the Acquiring Person will become void. If the Company is acquired in a merger or other
business combination transaction after a person acquires 15% or more of the Company’s Common Stock.
each Right will entitle its holder to purchase, at the Right's then-current exercise price, a number of the
acquiring company’s common shares having a market value at that time of twice the Right’s exercise
price.

The dividend distribution of Rights was payable on July 19, 2000 to shareholders of record on June 19,
2000. The Rights will expire in ten years. The Rights distribution is not taxable to the Company’s
stockholders.

The Board of Directors also adopted two amendments to the Rights Agreement dated December 15, 1994,
(the “1994 Rights Agreement”), between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as
Rights Agent. As a result of these amendments, the adoption of the 2000 Rights Agreement and the
setting of a record date to distribute new Rights, the 1994 Rights Agreement is no longer in effect.

Minority Interest in Subsidiary

At December 31, 2003, AGTI had 5,195,779 shares of its common stock outstanding. Of this amount, the
Company owned 4,157,143 shares or 80%, which allows it to consolidate for tax purposes the results of
operations of AGTI with those of the Company. On January 17, 2004, stock options for a total of 87,428
shares of AGTI common stock held by minority interest holders were exercised prior to their expiration
on that date. In order to maintain its 80% ownership interest in AGTI, the Company acquired an
additional 351,909 shares of AGTI common stock on January 13, 2004. The purchase price of such shares
was approximately $8.8 million, effected through the reduction of intercompany debt representing the
estimated fair value of such shares, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances.

After taking into account the above transactions, AGTI has a total of 5,635,116 shares of its common stock
outstanding of which 80% are owned by ARIAD, 14% are owned by Stanford University, Harvard
University, consultants and inventors, and 6% are owned by certain current members of the Company’s
management and Board of Directors. Approximately 75% of the shares of common stock owned by the
minority interest holders are subject to restrictions on transfer and a right of first refusal held by AGTI to
repurchase such shares of AGTI cormumon stock before sale of such shares to another purchaser. There are
currently no outstanding options to purchase AGTI common stock and no shares available for grant of
additional options.
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8. Stock Plan ;

ARIAD Stock Option and Stock Plans

The Company’s 1991, 1994, 2001 and 2006 stock option and stock plans {the “Plans”) provide for the
awarding of nonqualified and incentive stock options, stock grants and restricted stock units to officers,
directors, employees and consultants of thee Company. Stock options become exercisable as specified in
the related option certificate, typically over a four-year period, and expire ten years from the date of
grant. Stock grants and restricted stock units provide the recipient with ownership of common stock
subject to any rights the Company may have to repurchase the shares granted or other restrictions. The
1991 and 1994 Plans have expired according to their terms and the 2001 Plan has no shares remaining
available for grant, although existing stoc | options granted under these Plans remain outstanding. As of
December 31, 2006, there are 4,738,755 shares available for awards under the 2006 Plan.

ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. Stock Option|Plan

The Company’s subsidiary, AGTI, adopted a stock option plan in 1993, which was approved by the
Company’s stockholders and which has now expired according to its terms. At December 31, 2003, there
were 87,428 options outstanding all of which were exercised on January 17, 2004 for proceeds to AGTI of
approximately $37,000 (Note 7). There were no other options exercised nor any options granted under
this plan in 2006, 2005 or 2004. At December 31, 2006, there are no outstanding options to purchase AGTI
common stock under this plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and reserved 500,000 shares of
common stock for issuance under this plan. Under this plan, substantially all of its employees may,
through payroll withholdings, purchase shares of the Company’s stock at a price of 85% of the lesser of
the fair market value at the beginning or e:nd of each three-month withhelding period. In 2006, 2005 and
2004, 37,421, 23,137 and 11,298 shares of common stock were issued under the plan, respectively.

9, Stock-Based Compensation

The Company awards stock options and other equity-based instruments to its employees, directors and
consultants and provides employees the riight to purchase common stock (collectively “share-based
payments”), pursuant to stockholder approved plans. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted
SFAS No. 123R, using the Statement’s modified prospective application method. Accordingly, prior
period results have not been restated.

The Company’s statement of operations iricluded total compensation cost from share-based payments for
the years ended December 31, as follows:

In thousands 2006 2005 2004
Compensation cost from:
Stock options $ 3773 % 5 % 59
Stock and stock units 737 549 1,307
Purchases of common stock at a discount 49 -—- -—
% 4559 % 554 & 1,366
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The adoption of SFAS No. 123R resulted in incremental stock-based compensation expense of $3.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006, which caused the Company’s net loss to increase by $3.8 million
and its net loss per share to increase by $0.06 per share. The adoption had no impact on cash used in
operating activities or cash provided by financing activities.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company followed Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations, in accounting for its stock-based
awards. The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and net loss per share for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 123R to stock-based awards for such periods:

2005 2004

In thousands, except per share amounts

Net loss as reported $ (55482) % (35,573}
Effect of stock options if valued at fair value (4.159) {4,026}
Pro forma net loss $ (59,641) § (39,599)
Net loss per share as reported $ 099 % {0.69)
Effect of stock options if valued at fair value (0.07) (0.08}
Pro forma net loss per share $ (1.06) % {0.77)

Stock Options

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant. Stock options generally vest ratably over four years and have
contractual terms of ten years. Stock options are valued using the Black-Scholes option valuation model
and compensation is recognized based on such fair value over the period of vesting on a straight-line
basis.

The following table summarizes information about stock options as of and for the years ended December
31

In thousands, except per share amounts 2006 2005 2002

Weighted average fair value of options granted, per share  $ 433 § 595 % 5.15
Total cash received from exercises of stock options 1,791 850 2,280
Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised 1,403 742 3,131
Total fair value of stock options vested 4,320 2,088 4,872

The weighted average fair value of options granted in the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 200«
reflect the following weighted-average assumptions:

2006 2005 2004
Expected life of options granted (in years) 7.02 6.00 6.00
Expected volatility 70.65% 101.00% 112.00%
Risk-free rate 4.68% 417% 3.71%
Expected dividends 0% 0% 0%

The expected life assumption is based on an analysis of historical behavior of participants related to
options awarded over time. The expected volatility assumption for the year ended December 31, 2006 is
based on the implied volatility of the Company’s common stock, derived from analysis of historical
traded and quoted options on the Company’s common stock over the period commensurate with the
expected life of the options granted. The expected volatility for the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2004 is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. The risk-free rate is based on

59



the forward U.S. Treasury vield curve. Th
expected future policy for dividends on it

e expected dividends reflect the Company’s current and

5 common stock.,

Based on the Company’s historical employee departure rates, an estimated forfeiture rate of 16.4% has
been used in calculating compensation cost. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, additional expense
is recorded if the actual forfeiture rate is lower than estimated, and a recovery of prior expense is
recorded if the actual forfeiture rate is higher than estimated.

Stock option activity under the Company’s stock plans for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and

2004 was as follows:

Number of
Shares

Options outstanding, January 1, 2004 5,647,839

Granted 1,192,150
Forfeited (320,114)
Exercised (630,343)

Options outstanding, December 31, 2004 5,889,532

Granted 1,310,875
Forfeited (132,144)
Exercised (241,319)

Options outstanding, December 31, 2005 6,826,644

Granted 584,095
Forfeited (326,546)
Exercised (512,852)

Options outstanding, December 31, 2006 6,571,341

Options exercisable, December 3T, 2004 4,087,438

December 31, 2005 4,345,848

December 31, 2006 4,550,503
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Weighted Average

Exercise Price
Per Share

5 4.48
6.02
6.17
3.62
4.80
7.30
7.16
3.52
5.28
6.21
6.84
3.49
542
4.65
4.70
494
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Activity for non-vested stock option awards for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was as
follows:

Weighted Average
Number of Grant Date
Shares Fair Valua
Non-vested options outstanding, January 1, 2004 2,005,438 $ 3.86
Granted 1,192,150 $ 5.15
Vested (1,125,942) $ 433
Forfeited (269,552) $ 4.79 -
Non-vested options outstanding, December 31, 2004 1,802,094 $ 4.29
Granted 1,310,875 $ 5.95
Vested (567,164) $ 3.68
Forfeited {65,009) $ 510
Non-vested options outstanding, December 31, 2005 2,480,796 $ 522
Granted 584,095 $ 4.33
Vested (911,879) $ 4.74
Forfeited (132,174) $ 4.99
Non-vested options outstanding, December 31, 2006 2,020,838 $ 5.20

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006:

Options Options Options Expucted
Outstanding Exercisable To Vest
Number of options 6,571,341 4,550,503 6,321,459
Weighted-average exercise price per share $ 542 % 494 § 5.37
Aggregate intrinsic value (in 000's) $ (1.843) § 932 % {1,454)
Weighted average remaining contractual term (in years) 5.87 4.79 5.77

Options expected to vest include options currently exercisable plus options scheduled to vest in the
future less expected forfeitures.

At December 31, 2006, total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options
outstanding amounted to $7,969,000. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 2.1 years.

Stock and Stock Unit Grants

Stock and stock unit grants are provided to directors as compensation and generally carry no restrictions
as to resale. Stock grants to executive officers carry restrictions as to resale for periods of time specified in
the grant. Stock and stock unit grants are valued at the closing market price of the Company’s common
stock on the date of grant and compensation is recognized over the requisite service period or period
during which restrictions remain on the common stock or stock units granted.

Stock and stock units amounting to 80,000 were granted in each of the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005 and 170,000 in 2004. The weighted-average fair value of stock and stock unit awards granted in
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $6.43, $6.62 and $7.69, respectively. At December
31, 2006, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to stock and stock unit awards.
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Purchase of Common Stock Pursuant to Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Purchases of common stock by employees are provided pursuant to the Company’s employee stock
purchase plan. Purchase price is calculated as 85% of the lower of the closing price of our common stock
on the first trading day. or last trading day of each calendar quarter. Compensation cost is equal to the
fair value of the discount on the date of grant and is recognized as compensation in the period of
purchase.

10. Income Taxes

At December 31, 2006, the Company had available, for federal tax reporting purposes, net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $306.4 million, which expire commencing in 2009 and, for state tax
reporting purposes, net operating loss carryfor}evards of approximately $192.5 million, which expire
commencing in 2007. The Company also had federal research and development credit carryovers of
approximately $10.8 million, which expire commencing in 2007, and state research and development
credit carryovers of $5.3 million, which expire commencing in 2007. Both the net operating loss
carryforwards and credits are subject to certain|limitations under federal tax law.

The components of deferred income taxes were as follows at December 31:

In thousands 2006 2005
Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible and other assets $ 1,718 $ 1,860
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards 115,745 94,345

Federal and State tax credit carryovers 18,086 16,451

Depreciation 4,520 3,800

Other 1,872 1,344
Total deferred tax assets 140,223 115,540
Deferred tax assets, net 138,505 114,080
Valuation allowance (138,505) (114,080)

Total deferred taxes % 0 % 0

Since the Company has not vet achieved sustained profitable operations, management believes the tax
benefits as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 do ml)t satisfy the realization criteria set forth in SFAS No. 109
and has recorded a valuation allowance for the|entire net deferred tax asset. The increase in the valuation
allowance of $24.4 million in 2006 and $22.3 million in 2005 resulted primarily from net operating loss
carryforwards and tax credit carryovers from oberations in those years and that were not benefited.

11. Legal Proceedings
NF-xB Patent Infringement Litigation and Reexamination
Lilly Litigation
In 2002, the Company, together with Massachusetts Institute of Technology, The Whitehead Institute for
Biomedical Research and Harvard University (collectively, the Plaintiffs) filed a lawsuit in the United
States District Court for the District of Massachusetts, or the U.S. District Court, against Eli Lilly and

Company, hereinafter referred to as Lilly, alleging infringement of certain claims, or the NF-«xB ‘516
Claims, of the Plaintiffs’ U.S. Patent No. 6,410,5#6, or the ‘516 Patent, covering methods of treating human
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disease by regulating NF-xB cell-signaling activity through sales of Lilly’s osteoporosis drug, Evista®,
and Lilly’s septic shock drug, Xigris ®, and seeking monetary damages from Lilly.

This case was tried before a jury in the U.S. District Court from April 10, 2006 through April 28, 2006.
After deliberations, on May 4, 2006, the jury rendered a verdict in favor of the Plaintiffs by finding that
the NF-xB ‘516 Claims asserted in the lawsuit are valid and infringed by Lilly through sales of Evista and
Xigris in the United States. One defense regarding validity was not submitted to the jury and was instead
the subject of a bench trial, as addressed below. The jury awarded damages to the Plaintiffs in the
amount of approximately $65.2 million, based on the jury’s determination of a reasonable royalty rate of
2.3% to be paid by Lilly to the Plaintiffs based on U.S. sales of Evista and Xigris from the date of the filing
of the lawsuit on June 25, 2002 through February 28, 2006. The jury awarded further damages on an
ongoing basis, in amounts to be determined, equal to 2.3% of U.S. sales of Evista and Xigris through the
year 2019, when the patent expires. If the verdict is upheld, damages paid by Lilly will be applied first to
reimburse the Company for any unreimbursed legal fees and expenses relating to the litigation. The
Company will receive 91% of the remainder, and the co-plaintiffs will receive 9%.

A separate trial, or bench trial, was held in the U.S. District Court from August 7, 2006 through August 9,
2006 on certain defenses asserted by Lilly relating to the enforceability of the NF-xB ‘516 Claims and cne
defense related to the validity of these claims. The Company is currently awaiting the judge’s ruling on
the issues tried in the bench trial before a final judgment may be entered in this lawsuit. Lilly has the
right to file motions challenging the jury’s verdict in this lawsuit, and, upon the entry of a final judgment
by the U.S. District Court, to file an appeal of the jury’s verdict and other rulings by the U.S. District
Court with the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.

Amgen Litigation

On April 20, 2006, Amgen Inc. and certain affiliated entities, hereinafter referred to as Amgen, filed a
lawsuit against the Company in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware (the “Delaware
Court”) seeking a declaratory judgment that each of the claims contained in the ‘516 Patent are invalid
and that Amgen has not infringed any of the claims of the ‘516 Patent based on activities related to
Amgen’s products, Enbrel® and Kineret®. The Company filed a motion to dismiss this case in the
Delaware Court on June 14, 2006, which was, after a hearing held on September 11, 2006, denied in art
order dated September 13, 2006.

On September 25, 2006, the Company filed a motion requesting the judge to certify the Delaware Court’s
September 13, 2006 order denying the Company’s motion to dismiss for immediate appeal to the Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit (*CAFC”). On October 5, 2006, the Company also filed a renewed motion
to dismiss the Amgen litigation for failure to name the university patentees as necessary and
indispensable parties or, in the alternative, to transfer this case to the U.S. District Court for the District of
Massachusetts (the “Massachusetts Court”).

At a hearing on these motions held on November 3, 2006, the Delaware Court granted the Company’s
motion certifying the Delaware Court’s September 13, 2006 order for immediate appeal and denied, as
moot and without prejudice, the Company’s renewed motion to dismiss or transfer the case. The
Delaware Court also stayed discovery in the case pending a ruling on the Company’s petition for
permission to appeal the Delaware Court’s September 13, 2006 order (the “Petition”) to be filed with the
CAFC.

The Company filed its Petition with the CAFC on November 16, 2006, which was denied by the CAFC on

December 29, 2006. As a result of the CAFC’s denial of the Company's Petition, the temporary stay
issued by the Delaware Court expired. On February 20, 2007, a hearing was held before the Delaware
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Court on the Company’s renewed motion to dismiss the Amgen litigation, or in the alternative, to
transfer this case to the Massachusetts Court.

A scheduling order pursuant to Rule 16 of thfl, Federal Rules of Civil Procedure was entered by the
Delaware Court on February 23, 2007. Pursuant to that order, a claim construction hearing in this case is

scheduled for January 7, 2008, with trial scheduled to commence on May 12, 2008.

Re-examination Proceedings in PTO

On April 4, 2005, Lilly filed a request in the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or PTO, to
reexamine the patentability of certain claims of the ‘516 Patent. An unrelated third party filed a similar
request in the PTO on December 2, 2005 to reéxamine the patentability of certain claims of the ‘516 Patent.
These two requests have been granted and wére merged by the PTO into a single reexamination
proceeding. The Company petitioned the PTO to vacate or stay the grant of these requests, but the
Company's petitions were rejected. The Company {with the Plaintiffs) also filed a complaint in the U.S.
District Court in the Eastern District of Vlrgmla requesting that the court enjoin the PTO from continuing
with the reexamination proceedings, along with a motion for summary judgment, both of which were
denied by the Court in an order dated October 3, 2006 granting the PTO's motion to dismiss this action.
The Company filed a motion to dismiss its appeal in this case on November 8, 2006.

The PTO issued its first office action on Augu'st 2, 2006. In this first office action, 160 of the 203 claims of
the ‘516 Patent were rejected by the PTO, 1ncludmg the claims asserted by the Company in the Lilly
litigation and claims which may be asserted by the Company in the Amgen litigation. The Company’s
response to the first office action was filed onNovember 9, 2006, and the Company awaits receipt of a
final office action from the PTO. Accordingly, the Company can provide no assurance that the PTO will
not invalidate some of the claims of the ‘516 Patent in this reexamination process, including the claims
which were asserted against Lilly or might belasserted against Amgen, or that we will ultimately prevail
in either of these litigations.

The timing and ultimate outcome of the Lilly litigation (including the pending bench trial and any appeal
of the jury verdict and court’s ruling in the bench trial), the Amgen litigation (including pending motion
to dismiss, or in the alternative, to transfer the case to the Massachusetts Court) and the reexamination
proceedings cannot be determined at this tlmé and, as a result, no determination can be made with
respect to allowance of the claims of the ‘516 Patent nor can any final determination be made with
respect to the validity or infringement of the clalms of the ‘516 Patent in the Lilly litigation and the
Amgen litigation, nor can the Company predlct whether the damages awarded by the jury in the U.S.
District Court in the Lilly litigation will be uphe]d eliminated or limited. Although the Company has
prevailed at jury trial in the Lilly litigation, thF damages the Company was awarded by the jury may be
eliminated or limited by an adverse finding in the bench trial, on post-trial motions, upon appeal or in the
event that the claims of the ‘516 Patent are invalidated by the PTO.

12. Related Party Transactions

For the Company’s March 2004 and August 2005 public offerings of common stock, Lehman Brothers
served as the sole-book running manager for which it received underwriting discounts and commissions
of $1,399,090 and $2,018,250, respectively. In addition, Lehman Brothers provided assistance to the
Company in connection with its January 2005|transaction with Medinol Ltd. for the development of drug-
eluting stents for which Lehman Brothers eaniled a fee of $200,000. The spouse of a former member of the
Company’s Board of Directors, who was on the Company’s Board at the time of these transactions, is a
vice chairman of Lehman Brothers. We belielee the transactions with Lehman Brothers were entered into
on terms no less favorable to us than we could have obtained from unaffiliated third parties.
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13. Subsequent Events

On January 30, 2007, the Company filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC for the issuance of
common stock, preferred stock, various series of debt securities and/or warrants to purchase any of such
securities, either individually or in units, with a total value of up to $100 million, from time to time at
prices and on terms to be determined at the time of the offering. This filing was declared effective on -
February 6, 2007. No securities have been issued under this filing.

On February 14, 2007, the Company entered into an agreement with Azimuth Opl:;ortunity Ltd. under
which the Company may offer and sell, and Azimuth is committed to purchase, subject to the terms set
forth in the agreement, up to $50 million of the Company’s common stock, or the number of shares which
is one less than twenty percent of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock as
of the effective date of the agreement, whichever is fewer. These shares will be registered under the shelf
registration statement filed by the Company on January 30, 2007. At the Company’s sole discretion, the
Company may initiate up to 24 draw downs during the approximately 18-month term of the agreement
by delivering notice to Azimuth. Each draw down notice will specify (a) the aggregate dollar amount of
the Company’s common stock to be sold to Azimuth during such draw down and (b) the minimum
threshold price at which the Company will sell such shares, which will not be less than $3.00 per share.
Azimuth will be required to purchase a pro rata portion of the shares for each trading day during a price
period of 10 consecutive trading days on which the daily volume weighted average price for the
Company’s common stock exceeds the minimum threshold price. The per share purchase price for these
shares will equal the daily volume weighted average price of the Company’s common stock on such date,
less a discount ranging from 3.5% to 5.5%, depending on the minimum threshold price. In connection
with any such draw down at the Company’s sole discretion, the Company may also grant Azimuth the
right, during the relevant draw down pricing period, to purchase additional shares of the Company’s
common stock by specifying in the draw down notice an optional aggregate dollar amount and a
minimum threshold price for such optional shares. Azimuth is not obligated to purchase the optional
amount. The per share purchase price for these optional shares will equal the greater of the daily volume
weighted average price of the Company’s common stock on the day Azimuth notifies the Company of its
election to exercise such right or the minimum threshold price for such optional shares, less a discount
ranging from 3.5% to 5.5%. Upon each sale of common stock to Azimuth, the Company will pay to
Reedland Capital Partners, an Institutional Division of Financial West Group, a placement fee equal to
1.0% of the aggregate dollar amount received by the Company from such sale.
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ITEM9: CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSI;JRE

Not applicable. '
ITEM 9A: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, after evaluating the effectiveness &f our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
paragraph (e) of Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the
period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, have concluded that, based on such evaluation, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and is
accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure, partlcularli;{ during the period in which this Annual Report on Form 10-K
was being prepared. |

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, our management recognizes that
any controls and procedures, no matter h(:)w well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and our management necessarily is required to
apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

(b) Changes in Internal Controls. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting,
identified in connection with the evaluation of such internal control that occurred during our last fiscal
quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control

over financial reporting,

Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. The Company’ 4 internal control system was designed to provide reasonable
assurance to the Company’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair
presentation of published financial statements Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatemnents. Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are sub]ect'to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006. In mal|<1ng this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework. Based on our asséssment we believe that, as of December 31, 2006, the
Company’s internal control over financiall reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The Company’s independent auditors have issued an audit report on our assessment of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. This report appears below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based
on criteria established in Internal Confrol — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision
of, the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud
may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that
the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
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We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated fmanmal statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2006 of the Company and our report dated March 9, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R| Share-Based Payment, effective January 1, 2006.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP |
Boston, Massachusetts '
March 9, 2007 l

ITEM 9B: OTHER INFORMATION

On October 30, 2006, we amended our lease for our office and laboratory facility in Cambridge,
Massachusetts. The amendment provides for the extension of the current term of the lease until July 31,
2012 at an annual blended base rent effective May 1, 2007 of approximately $20.90 per rentable square
foot, net of operating expenses, utilities anld real estate taxes. Base rent expense from May 1, 2007
through July 31, 2012 will be approx:mately $2.1 million on an annual basis, less any sublease rent
income. The amendment also provides for two options to extend the lease beyond the current term for
five years each, at annual base rents approximating fair market rents. In addition, the amendment
provides that the landlord will make specified improvements in and to the building in 2007.
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PART III i
! 1

ITEM 10: DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the
captions “Board of Directors,” “Executive Officers,” “Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” and “Corporate Code of Conduct and Ethics” in the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement
for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM11: EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the
captions “Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis”, “Compensation
Committee Report” and “Board of Directors” in the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007

Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM12: SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the
captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Executive
Compensation-Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for
the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. "

ITEM13: CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The response to this itemn is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the
captions “Board of Directors” and “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Company’s
Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 14: PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the

caption “Proposal 2: Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the
Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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ITEM 15:

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL ST/

@)

(@)

(b)
©

The following Co

PART IV

ATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

nsolidated Financial Statements, Notes thereto and Report

of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm have been presented in

Item 8:

Report of Indepe

ndent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Sta

Consolidated Sta

Consolidated Sta

tements of Operations
tements of Stockholders’ Equity

tements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements

Financial Stateme

nt Schedules:

Schedules have been omitted because of the absence of conditions under
which they are required or because the required information is included in

the financial state

ments or notes thereto.

The Exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index are filed herewith in the manner set

forth therein.
See (a) (3) above.

See (a) (2) above.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Cambridge

SIGNATURES

and Commonwealth of Massachusetts on the 14th of March, 2007.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the

ARIAD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

[s/ Harvey |. Berger, M.D.
Harvey |. Berger, M.D.

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/sf Harvey [. Berger, M.D.
Harvey J. Berger, M.D.

/sf Sandford D. Smith
Sandford D, Smith

{s{ Edward M. Fitzgerald
Edward M. Fitzgerald

/s/ Michael D. Kishbauch
Michael D. Kishbauch

/s/Jay R. LaMarche
Jay R. LaMarche

/s/ Athanase Lavidas, Ph.D.

Athanase Lavidas, Ph.D.

[s{ Peter ]. Nelson
Peter ]. Nelson

/s Burton E. Sobel, M.D.
Burton E. Sobel, M.D.

/s/ Elizabeth H .S. Wyatt
Elizabeth H. S. Wyatt

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive

Title

Officer and President (Principal Executive Officer)

Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors

Senior Vice President, Finance and Corporate

Operations, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Date

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007

March 14, 2007




Exhibit No.

31
32
41

10.1

10.2+
10.3+
10.4+
10.5+
10.6**
10.7+

10.8+

10.9+
10.10+

10.11+
10,12+
10.13+

1014+
10.15+

10.16+

1017+

10.18+

10.19+
10.20

10.21

10.22+

10.23

10.24

10.25+

10.26+

EXHIBIT INDEX

Title

Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended. (16)

Restated By-laws of the Companv, as amended. (5)

Rights Agreement, dated as ofiJune 8, 2000, between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust
Company, which includes the Form of Certificate of Designations in respect of the Series A
Preferred Stock, as Exhibit lA the Form of Right Certificate as Exhibit B and the Summary of
Rights to Purchase Series A Preferred Stock as Exhibit C. Pursuant to the Rights Agreement,
Right Certificates will not be mailed until after the Separation Date (as defined therein). (3}

Lease Agreement, dated ]anuary 8, 1992, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Forest City
Cambridge, Inc. (1)

Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1992, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and Harvey J. Berger, M.D. (1)

ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc, 1991 Stock Option Plan for Employees and Consultants, as amended.
(4)

ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 1991 Stock Option Plan for Directors. (1}

ARIAD Retirement Savings Plzlm (¥3)

Amended and Restated Agreement, dated as of December 12, 1997, between The Board of Trustees
of The Leland Stanford Juruor University and ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. {6}

Amendment, dated April 19, 1994 to Executive Employment Agreement between ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Harvey] Berger, M.D. (2)

Amendment No. 2, dated Iunq' 30, 1994, to Executive Employment Agreement between ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Harvey . Berger, M.D. (4)

ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 1994 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors. (4)

Amendment, dated January 1 |l997 to Executive Employment Agreement between ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Harvey J. Berger, M.D. (11)

ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc, 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (11)

Amendment to the 1991 Stock Optxon Plan for Employees and Consultants. (11)

Amendment to the 1994 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors. (11)

ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 1997 Executive Compensation Plan. (6)

Executive Employment Agreerlnent, dated May 1, 1992, Fourth Amendment to Employment
Agreement dated June 8, 2[:)00, Third Amendment to Employment Agreement dated January 1,
1999, and Amendments to Employment Agreements dated january 1, 1997 and March 2, 1994
between ARIAD Pharmacelutlcals, Inc. and John luliucci, Ph.D. (7)

Executive Employment Agreement dated August 1, 1993, Third Amendment to Employment
Agreement dated June 8, 2(500 and Amendments to Employment Agreements dated January 1,
1997 and March 2, 1994 betiveen ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and David L. Berstein, ].D. (7)

Amendment, dated as of ]anua'ry 1, 2001, to Executive Employment Agreement with John Iuliucci,
Ph.D. (8)

Amendment, dated as of January 1, 2001, to Executive Employment Agreement with David Berstein,
Esq. (8)

ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan, as amended. (16)

Revised and Restated Research and Development Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2002, by and
between ARIAD Pharmacel.lhcals Inc. and ARIAD Corporation. (9)

Revised and Restated Research and Development Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2002, by and
between ARIAD Gene Therapeutlcs, Inc. and ARIAD Corporation. (9)

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of March 4, 2002, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and Laurie A. Allen, Esq. (9)

Stock Transfer Agreement between ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. and the individuals listed on
Exhibit A thereto. (9)

Notice of Extension of Lease, dated October 2, 2001, from ARIAD Corporation to Forest City
Commercial Group. (9)

Executive Employment Agreement, dated May 6, 2002, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Edward M. Fitzgerald (10)

Executive Employment Agreement, dated June 8, 2000, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
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Timothy Clackson, Ph.D.(12)

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated July 1, 2001, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and Timothy Clackson, Ph.D. (12)

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated July 12, 2002, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and Timothy Clackson, Ph.D. (12)

Agreement of Sublease, dated December 31, 1999, between ARIAD Corporation and Aventis
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (12)

First Amendment to Sublease, dated July 26, 2002, between ARIAD Corporation and Aventis
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (12)

Credit Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2003, by and among ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., ARIAD
Corporation and ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. and Citizens Bank of Massachusetts. {13}

Security Agreement ~ All Assets, dated as of March 12, 2003, by and between ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Citizens Bank of Massachusetts. (13)

Security Agreement ~ All Assets, dated as of March 12, 2003, by and between ARIAD Corporation
and Citizens Bank of Massachusetts. (13}

Security Agreement - All Assets, dated as of March 12, 2003, by and between ARIAD Gene
Therapeutics, Inc. and Citizens Bank of Massachusetts. (13)

Amendment to Employee Agreement, dated September 2, 2003, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and Harvey ]. Berger, M.D. (14)

Amendment to Employee Agreement, dated September 2, 2003, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and Laurie A, Allen, Esq. (14)

Amendment to Employee Agreement, dated September 2, 2003, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and David Berstein, Esq. (14)

Amendment to Employee Agreement, dated September 2, 2003, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and Timothy P. Clackson, Ph.D. (14}

Amendment to Employee Agreement, dated September 2, 2003, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals,
Inc, and Edward M. Fitzgerald. (14)

Amendment to Employee Agreement, dated September 2, 2003 between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and John D, Iuliucci, Ph.D. (14)

Amendment No. T to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2003, by and among ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., ARIAD Corporation and ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. and Citizens
Bank of Massachusetts. (15)

Stock Issuance Agreement, dated January 13, 2004, between ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. and
ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (15)

Stock Transfer Agreement, dated January 17, 2004, between ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. and the
individuals listed on Exhibit A thereto. (15)

Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement dated as of December 31, 2004 by and among ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., ARIAD Corporation and ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. and Citizens
Bank of Massachusetts. (17)

Second Amended and Restated Term Note, dated December 31, 2004, issued ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., ARIAD Corporation and ARIAD Gene Therapeutics, Inc. to Citizens Bank
of Massachusetts. (17)

License Agreement, effective January 26, 2005, by and between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Medinol Ltd. (19)

Supply Agreement, entered into as of January 26, 2005, by and between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and Medinol Ltd. (19)

Executive Employment Agreement, dated August 19, 2002, and First Amendment to Employment
Agreement, dated September 2, 2003, between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Camille L.
Bedrosian, M.D. (18)

ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2005 Executive Compensation Plan. (20)

Amendment to ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 1997 Executive Compensation Plan, (20)

ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, inc. Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Plan. (20)

Executive Compensation Arrangements

Director Compensation Arrangements.

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreements, as of October 4, 2005, between ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and each of Laurie A. Allen, Esq., Camille L. Bedrosian, M.D., David L.
Berstein, Esq., Timothy P. Clackson, Ph.D., Edward M. Fitzgerald and John D. Iuliucci, Ph.D. (20)
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(3)
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Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006 between ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Harvey . Berger, M.D. (21)

Executivé Employment Agreelment dated as of September 25, 2005 between ARIAD
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Rlchard W. Pascoe. (21)

Eighth Amendment to Lease dated October 30, 2006 by and between Forest City Cambridge, Inc. and
ARIAD Corporation. ,

ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc, 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan. (22)

License Agreement dated August 19, 1991 by and among The Massachusetts Institute of Technology,
The Whitehead Institute and ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (23)

Form of Stock Option Certlflcate under the ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive
Plan. (24)

Form of Stock Grant Certificate under the ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive
Plan. (24}

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Certificate under the ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2006 Long-Term
Incentive Plan. (24}

Form of Indemnity Agreement between ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its directors and officers.
(24)

Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated February 14, 2007 by and between Azimuth Opportunity
Ltd. and ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (25}

Subsidiaries of the Company.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche|LLP.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer.

Certification of the Chief Fina:ncial Officer.

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement

Filed Herewith.

Confidential treatment has been granted by the Securities and Exchange
Commission as to certain portions.

Incorporated by L'eference to Registration Statement on Form 10 of the
Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 25,
1993,

Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form 5-1 of the
Company (No. 33-76414) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 11, 1994.

Incorporated by :reference to Form 8-A of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 19, 2000.

Incorporated by lrefereru:e to Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year
ended Deceinber 31, 1994 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Comnussml{ on March 31, 1995.

Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement
on Form 5-3 of the Company (No. 333-38664) filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 23, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1997 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 10, 1998,

Incorporated by :reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities arlwl Exchange Commission on August 10, 2000.

Incorporated herein by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2001 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 22, 2002.

Incorporated hetein by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
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(11)
(1)
(13)
(14)
(15)

(16)

(18)
(19
(20)

(21)

Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2002,
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Comumission on August 12, 1997
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission in March 14, 2003.
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission in May 13, 2003.
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission in November 4, 2003.
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 2, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-8 of the
Company (No. 333-116996) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 30, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 18, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K/ A of the Company filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on March 11, 2005.
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10, 2005.
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 9, 2005.
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statement of the Company
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 28, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q of the Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 8, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K of the Company filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2007.
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